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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Any statements that do not relate to historical or
current facts or matters are forward-looking statements. You can identify some of the forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking words, such
as “may,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “continue,” “potential,” “plan,” “forecast,” and the like,
or the use of future tense. Statements concerning current conditions may also be forward-looking if they imply a continuation of current conditions.
Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

expectations regarding the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and measures intended to reduce its spread;
expectations regarding our Flash Ventures joint venture with Kioxia Corporation, the flash industry and our flash wafer output plans;
expectations regarding pricing conditions for flash products;
expectations regarding our cost saving initiatives;
expectations regarding our product development and technology plans;
expectations regarding the outcome of legal proceedings in which we are involved;
our reinvestment in the business and ongoing deleveraging efforts;
any changes to our quarterly cash dividend policy and share repurchase program;
expectations regarding the repatriation of funds from our foreign operations;
our beliefs regarding tax benefits and the timing of future payments, if any, relating to the unrecognized tax benefits, and the adequacy of our tax
provisions;
expectations regarding capital investments and sources of funding for those investments; and
our beliefs regarding the sufficiency of our available liquidity to meet our working capital, debt and capital expenditure needs as well as our
dividend plans.

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the
forward-looking statements. You are urged to carefully review the disclosures we make concerning risks and other factors that may affect our business and
operating results, including those made in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and any of those made in our other reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this document. We do not intend, and undertake no obligation, to publish revised forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after
the date of this document or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited)
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except par value)
(Unaudited)
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

2,943

$

3,455

Accounts receivable, net

1,978

1,204

Inventories

3,091

3,283

Other current assets

541

535

Total current assets

8,553

8,477

Property, plant and equipment, net

2,735

2,843

Notes receivable and investments in Flash Ventures

2,157

2,791

10,066

10,076

1,126

1,711

Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets

872

Total assets

472

$

25,509

$

26,370

$

1,786

$

1,567

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable to related parties

397

331

1,569

1,296

Accrued compensation

433

347

Current portion of long-term debt

286

276

4,471

3,817

9,343

10,246

Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

2,452

2,340

16,266

16,403

—

—

3

3

3,743

3,851

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9, 10, 12 and 15)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; authorized — 5 shares; issued and outstanding — none
Common stock, $0.01 par value; authorized — 450 shares; issued — 312 shares; outstanding — 300 shares and 295 shares,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Treasury stock — common shares at cost; 12 shares and 17 shares, respectively
Total shareholders’ equity

(183)

(68)

6,578

7,449

(898)

(1,268)

9,243

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

25,509

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Revenue, net

$

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

4,175

$

April 3,
2020

3,674

$

March 29,
2019

12,449

$

12,935

Cost of revenue

3,170

3,095

9,751

9,648

Gross profit

1,005

579

2,698

3,287

Research and development

563

544

1,715

1,659

Selling, general and administrative

281

353

884

1,018

8

76

25

142

852

973

2,624

2,819

153

(394)

74

468

Operating expenses:

Employee termination, asset impairment, and other charges
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest and other income (expense):
Interest income

6

13

26

43

Interest expense

(99)

(118)

(326)

(352)

Other income (expense), net

(14)

22

(5)

28

(107)

(83)

(305)

(281)

Income (loss) before taxes

46

(477)

(231)

187

Income tax expense

29

104

167

Total interest and other expense, net

Net income (loss)

744

$

17

$

(581)

$

(398)

$

(557)

Basic

$

0.06

$

(1.99)

$

(1.34)

$

(1.91)

Diluted

$

0.06

$

(1.99)

$

(1.34)

$

(1.91)

Income (loss) per common share

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic

299

292

298

291

Diluted

303

292

298

291

Cash dividends declared per share

$

0.50

$

0.50

$

1.50

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Net income (loss)

$

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

17

$

April 3,
2020

(581)

$

March 29,
2019

(398)

$

(557)

Other comprehensive loss, before tax:
Actuarial pension gain

1

—

4

1

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(11)

(2)

(21)

(8)

Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts and available-for-sale securities

(76)

(24)

(115)

(18)

(86)

(26)

(132)

(25)

13

6

17

9

Total other comprehensive loss, before tax
Income tax benefit related to items of other comprehensive loss, before tax
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Total comprehensive loss

(73)
$

(56)

(20)
$

(601)

(115)
$

(513)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
April 3,
2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operations:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Amortization of debt discounts
Other non-cash operating activities, net
Changes in:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Accounts payable
Accounts payable to related parties
Accrued expenses
Accrued compensation
Other assets and liabilities, net

$

(398)

(774)
179
131
66
331
87
(351)

975
(496)
(549)
53
373
(78)
(285)

652

1,378

(432)
—
(22)
—
—
—
(353)
980
19

(722)
3
—
(69)
49
7
(858)
570
(22)

192

(1,042)

79
(69)
—
(445)
(919)
—

66
(109)
(563)
(438)
(113)
(500)

(1,354)

(1,657)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(2)

(2)

(512)
3,455

(1,323)
5,005

$

2,943

$

3,682

$
$

303
327

$
$

323
355

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(557)
1,396
242
253
4
28
19

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of stock under employee stock plans
Taxes paid on vested stock awards under employee stock plans
Repurchases of common stock
Dividends paid to shareholders
Repayment of debt
Repayment of revolving credit facility

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

$

1,189
232
(53)
(9)
30
(8)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Proceeds from maturities of investments
Notes receivable issuances to Flash Ventures
Notes receivable proceeds from Flash Ventures
Strategic investments and other, net

Net cash used in financing activities

March 29,
2019
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions)
Common Stock
Shares
Balance at June 28, 2019
Net loss
Adoption of New Accounting Standard
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Dividends to shareholders
Actuarial pension gain
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

312
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Balance at October 4, 2019
Net loss
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Dividends to shareholders
Actuarial pension gain
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Treasury Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

(17)
—
—
3
—
—
—
—
—

312
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

3
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(14)
—
1
—
—
—
—
—

(1,087)
—
125
—
—
—
—
—

3,728
—
(81)
77
7
—
—
—

(90)
—
—
—
—
1
(13)
(8)

7,012
(139)
—
—
(156)
—
—
—

9,566
(139)
44
77
(149)
1
(13)
(8)

Balance at January 3, 2020
Net income
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Dividends to shareholders
Actuarial pension gain
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

312
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

3
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(13)
—
1
—
—
—
—
—

(962)
—
64
—
—
—
—
—

3,731
—
(72)
78
6
—
—
—

(110)
—
—
—
—
1
(12)
(62)

6,717
17
—
—
(156)
—
—
—

9,379
17
(8)
78
(150)
1
(12)
(62)

Balance at April 3, 2020

312

3

(12)

$

9

(1,268)
—
—
181
—
—
—
—
—

(898)

$

$

3,851
—
—
(207)
77
7
—
—
—

3,743

$

$

(68)
—
—
—
—
—
1
4
(27)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

Retained
Earnings

3
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(183)

$

$

7,449
(276)
(5)
—
—
(156)
—
—
—

6,578

$

$

9,967
(276)
(5)
(26)
77
(149)
1
4
(27)

9,243
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions)
Common Stock
Shares
Balance at June 29, 2018
Net income
Adoption of New Accounting
Standards
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Repurchases of common stock
Dividends to shareholders
Foreign currency translation
adjustment

312
—

Balance at September 28, 2018
Net loss
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Dividends to shareholders
Actuarial pension gain
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Net unrealized gain on derivative
contracts
Balance at December 28, 2018
Net loss
Employee stock plans
Stock-based compensation
Dividends to shareholders
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Net unrealized loss on available-forsale securities

—

Balance at March 29, 2019

312

Treasury Stock

Amount
$

Shares

Amount

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

—
1
—
(8)
—

—

—

—

312
—
—
—
—
—

3
—
—
—
—
—

(23)
—
2
—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

11

—

11

312
—
—
—
—

3
—
—
—
—

(21)
—
2
—
—

(1,650)
—
226
—
—

4,062
—
(261)
84
6

(35)
—
—
—
—

8,532
(581)
—
—
(152)

10,912
(581)
(35)
84
(146)

—

—

—

—

(1)

—

(1)

—

—

3

(19)

$

8,757
511

$

—
—
—
—
—

—

—

(37)

—

(37)

(1,809)
—
159
—
—
—

4,085
—
(109)
79
7
—

(76)
—
—
—
—
1

9,172
(487)
—
—
(153)
—

11,375
(487)
50
79
(146)
1

—

29

—

29

(1,424)

—
$

3,891

56
—
—
—
(152)

11,531
511

—
(256)
79
—
8

—
$

(39)
—

Total Shareholders’
Equity

—
—
—
—
—

—
198
—
(563)
—

4,254
—

Retained
Earnings

(16)
—

$

(1,444)
—

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

3
—

—

$

Additional PaidIn Capital

(19)
$

(55)

—
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
Note 1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
Western Digital Corporation (“Western Digital” or “the Company”) is a leading developer, manufacturer, and provider of data storage devices and
solutions that address the evolving needs of the information technology (“IT”) industry and the infrastructure that enables the proliferation of data in
virtually every other industry. The Company creates environments for data to thrive. The Company is driving the innovation needed to help customers
capture, preserve, access and transform an ever-increasing diversity of data. Everywhere data lives, from advanced data centers to mobile sensors to
personal devices, the Company’s industry-leading solutions deliver the possibilities of data.
The Company’s broad portfolio of technology and products address the following key end markets: Client Devices; Data Center Devices and
Solutions; and Client Solutions. The Company also generates license and royalty revenue from its extensive intellectual property (“IP”), which is included
in each of these three end market categories.
The accounting policies followed by the Company are set forth in Part II, Item 8, Note 1, Organization and Basis of Presentation, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the fiscal year ended June 28, 2019. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments necessary to fairly state the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been made. All such adjustments are of a
normal, recurring nature. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the fiscal year ended June 28, 2019.
The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year.
Fiscal Year
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to June 30 and typically consists of 52 weeks. Approximately every five to six years, the
Company reports a 53-week fiscal year to align the fiscal year with the foregoing policy. Fiscal year 2020, which ends on July 3, 2020, will be comprised
of 53 weeks, with the first quarter consisting of 14 weeks and the remaining quarters consisting of 13 weeks each. Fiscal year 2019, which ended on
June 28, 2019, was comprised of 52 weeks, with all quarters presented consisting of 13 weeks.
Use of Estimates
Company management has made estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of certain assets and liabilities in conformity with U.S. GAAP.
These estimates and assumptions have been applied using methodologies that are consistent throughout the periods presented with consideration given to
the potential impacts of the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic. However, actual results could differ materially from these estimates and be
significantly affected by the severity and duration of the pandemic, the extent of actions to contain or treat COVID-19, how quickly and to what extent
normal economic and operating activity can resume, and the severity and duration of the global economic downturn that results from the pandemic.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic
842)” (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 supersedes Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840 “Leases”. The amendments in this update require,
among other things, that lessees recognize the following for all leases (unless a policy election is made by class of underlying asset to exclude short-term
leases) at the commencement date: (1) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a
discounted basis; and (2) a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or the direct use of, a specified asset for the lease
term. The FASB issued ASU 2018-11 on July 30, 2018, which allows entities to apply the provisions of ASC 842 at the effective date without adjusting
comparative periods. The Company adopted this standard effective June 29, 2019, the first day of the fiscal year ending July 3, 2020, and has elected the
transition method provided in ASU 2018-11 to apply Topic 842 as of the date of adoption without adjusting comparative periods. The Company has elected
the package of practical expedients and did not reassess prior conclusions including (a) whether its contracts are or contain a lease, (b) lease classification
and (c) capitalization of initial direct costs. The adoption of Topic 842 resulted in an increase in lease assets and a corresponding increase in lease liabilities
on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet of $221 million as of June 29, 2019. The cumulative effect of adopting Topic 842 also included an after-tax
decrease to opening retained earnings of $5 million as of June 29, 2019, which was primarily related to previously recorded sublease proceed assumptions
on lease exit liabilities for which there was no expected future economic benefit at transition. See Note 10, Leases and Other Commitments, for additional
disclosures related to this standard.
In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-16, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(SOFR) Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes” (“ASU 2018-16”). ASU 2018-16 allows for the
use of the OIS rate based on the SOFR as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes under Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The
Company adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2020. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2018-16 did not have a material impact on its Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes” (“ASU 2019-12”).
ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intraperiod allocation and calculating income taxes in
interim periods. The ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating
taxes to members of a consolidated group. This ASU is effective for fiscal years (and interim periods within those fiscal years) beginning after December
15, 2020, which for the Company is the first quarter of fiscal 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect this update to have a
material impact on its Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and
Topic 606” (“ASU 2018-18”). ASU 2018-18 clarifies that certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted for as
revenue when the collaborative arrangement participant is a customer in the context of a unit of account and precludes recognizing as revenue consideration
received from a collaborative arrangement participant if the participant is not a customer. This ASU requires retrospective adoption to the date the
Company adopted ASC 606 by recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings of the earliest annual period
presented. The amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, which for the
Company is the first quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company does not expect this update to have a material impact on its Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 seeks to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit
losses on financial instruments, including trade receivables, and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The
amendments require an entity to replace the incurred loss impairment methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects current
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. The
amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, which for the Company is the
first quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this update will have on its Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 3. Revenues
Contract assets represent the Company’s rights to consideration where performance obligations are completed but the customer payments are not due
until another performance obligation is satisfied. The Company did not have any contract assets as of either April 3, 2020 or June 28, 2019.
The Company incurs sales commissions and other direct incremental costs to obtain sales contracts. The Company has applied the practical expedient
to recognize the direct incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortization period is expected to be one year or less or
the amount is not material, with these costs charged to Selling, general and administrative expenses. Direct incremental costs to obtain contracts that have
an expected benefit of greater than one year are amortized over the period of expected cash flows from the related contracts, and the amortization expense
is recorded as a reduction to revenue. Total capitalized contract costs as of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019 as well as the related amortization for the three
and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019 were not material.
Contract liabilities relate to customers’ payments in advance of performance under the contract and primarily relate to remaining performance
obligations under support and maintenance contracts. As of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019, contract liabilities were not material.
The Company applies the practical expedients and does not disclose transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for (i)
arrangements that have an original expected duration of one year or less, which mainly consist of the support and maintenance contracts, and (ii) variable
consideration amounts for sale-based or usage-based royalties for IP license arrangements, which typically range longer than one year. Remaining
performance obligations are mainly attributed to right-to-access patent license arrangements and customer support and service contracts which will be
recognized over the remaining contract period. The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations as of April 3, 2020 was
$122 million, which is mainly attributable to the functional IP license and service arrangements. The Company expects to recognize this amount as revenue
as follows: $11 million during the remainder of fiscal 2020, $41 million in fiscal 2021, $39 million in fiscal 2022 and $31 million thereafter.
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The Company’s disaggregated revenue information is as follows:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Revenue by Product
Hard disk drives (“HDD”)

$

2,114

Flash-based
Total Revenue

$

2,061

2,064

$

1,610

6,918

$

6,618

5,531

6,317

$

4,175

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935

$

1,831

$

1,625

$

5,244

$

6,489

Revenue by End Market
Client Devices
Data Center Devices & Solutions

1,523

Client Solutions
Total Revenue

1,245

821

4,544

804

3,765

2,661

2,681

$

4,175

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935

$

1,325

$

1,070

$

3,934

$

3,367

Revenue by Geography
Americas
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Asia
Total Revenue

$

770

748

2,360

2,394

2,080

1,856

6,155

7,174

4,175

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935

The Company’s top 10 customers accounted for 44% of its net revenue for both the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020, and 41% and 45% of
its net revenue for the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019, respectively. For the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019,
no single customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s net revenue.

15

Table of Contents
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 4. Supplemental Financial Statement Data
Accounts receivable, net
From time to time, in connection with factoring agreements, the Company sells trade accounts receivable without recourse to third party purchasers in
exchange for cash. During the nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, the Company sold trade accounts receivable and received cash
proceeds of $298 million and $702 million, respectively. The discounts on the trade accounts receivable sold during the periods were not material and were
recorded within Other income (expense), net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019, the amount
of factored receivables that remained outstanding was $100 million and $318 million, respectively.
Inventories
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Inventories:
Raw materials and component parts

$

1,302

$

1,142

Work-in-process

842

968

Finished goods

947

1,173

$

Total inventories

3,091

$

3,283

Property, plant and equipment, net
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Property, plant and equipment:
Land

$

294

$

294

Buildings and improvements

1,823

1,743

Machinery and equipment

7,290

7,267

437

441

Computer equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Construction-in-process
Property, plant and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation

51

56

190

202

10,085

10,003

(7,350)
$

Property, plant and equipment, net

2,735

(7,160)
$

2,843

Goodwill
Carrying Amount
(in millions)

Balance at June 28, 2019

$

Goodwill recorded in connection with an acquisition

10,076
14

Reduction in goodwill in connection with disposition of business

(21)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(3)
$

Balance at April 3, 2020

16

10,066
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Acquisition
On September 10, 2019, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Kazan Networks, Inc., an innovator in high-performance networking and
non-volatile memory express over fabrics technology ("NVMe-oF"), and an industry leader in application-specific integrated circuit and adapter solutions
to connect storage platforms and systems over ethernet fabrics. The purchase price of this acquisition was $22 million in cash, with net assets acquired
primarily consisting of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) of $8 million and $14 million allocated to Goodwill. Goodwill is primarily
attributable to the benefits the Company expects to derive from diversifying product offerings in its Data Center Devices and Solutions and Client Solutions
end markets as well as the acquired workforce. The expenses incurred by the Company related to the acquisition as well as the revenues and earnings
related to the acquisition were not material to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Dispositions
In September 2019, the Company announced the sale of its IntelliFlash business and intention to exit Storage Systems, which consists of IntelliFlash
and ActiveScale. These actions will allow the Company to redirect investments to other high value priorities. In November 2019, the Company completed
its sale of IntelliFlash for a price of $28 million, to be collected over the next three years. The sale of the IntelliFlash business included an immaterial
amount of inventory, other tangible and intangible assets, and goodwill and resulted in a gain of approximately $17 million recorded in Employee
termination, asset impairment, and other charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for both the three and nine months ended
April 3, 2020. Additionally, in March 2020, the Company completed the sale of ActiveScale. The net assets sold and the proceeds from the sale of
ActiveScale were not material. The revenues and expenses related to these businesses were not material to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements and did not qualify to be reported as discontinued operations. The operating results of these businesses have been reflected in the Company’s
results from continuing operations in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented through the date of disposition.
Intangible assets
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Finite-lived intangible assets

$

In-process research and development
Accumulated amortization
$

Intangible assets, net

5,725

$

5,824

80

72

(4,679)

(4,185)

1,126

$

1,711

As part of prior acquisitions, the Company recorded at the time of the acquisition acquired IPR&D for projects in progress that had not yet reached
technological feasibility. IPR&D is initially accounted for as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. Once a project reaches technological feasibility, the
Company reclassifies the balance to existing technology and begins to amortize the intangible asset over its estimated useful life.
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Product warranty liability
Changes in the warranty accrual were as follows:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Warranty accrual, beginning of period

$

378

Charges to operations
Utilization
Changes in estimate related to pre-existing warranties
Warranty accrual, end of period

$

$

337

$

350

$

318

45

38

144

119

(41)

(40)

(124)

(108)

1

(4)

13

383

$

331

$

383

2
$

331

The current portion of the warranty accrual is classified in Accrued expenses and the long-term portion is classified in Other liabilities as noted below:
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Warranty accrual
Current portion (included in Accrued expenses)

$

185

Long-term portion (included in Other liabilities)

$

188

198
$

Total warranty accrual

383

162
$

350

Other liabilities
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Other liabilities:
Non-current net tax payable

$

830

$

928

Payables related to unrecognized tax benefits

716

699

Other non-current liabilities

906

713

$

Total other liabilities

18

2,452

$

2,340
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”), net of tax refers to expenses, gains and losses that are recorded as an element of
shareholders’ equity but are excluded from net income. The following table illustrates the changes in the balances of each component of AOCI:
Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Actuarial Pension
Gains (Losses)

Unrealized Gains
(Losses) on Derivative
Contracts

Total Accumulated
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(in millions)

Balance at June 28, 2019

$

(53)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications

$

4

$

(19)

$

(68)

4

(21)

(98)

(115)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

—

—

(17)

(17)

Income tax benefit (expense) related to items of other comprehensive income
(loss)

(1)

1

17

17

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance at April 3, 2020

3
$

(50)

(20)
$

(16)

(98)
$

(117)

(115)
$

(183)

During the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, the amounts reclassified out of AOCI related to derivative contracts were
substantially all charged to Cost of revenue in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Note 5. Fair Value Measurements and Investments
Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value
Financial assets and liabilities that are remeasured and reported at fair value at each reporting period are classified and disclosed in one of the
following three levels:
Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2. Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term
of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3. Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019, and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such values:
April 3, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash equivalents - Money market funds

$

1,028

Foreign exchange contracts
Total assets at fair value

$

—

—

$

—

38

$

1,028

—

38

$

1,028

$

38

$

—

$

1,066

$

—

$

28

$

—

$

28

Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swap contract
Total liabilities at fair value

—
$

—

132
$

160

—
$

—

132
$

160

June 28, 2019
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

$

1,388

Certificates of deposit
Total cash equivalents

$

—

$

—

$

1,388

—

17

—

17

1,388

17

—

1,405

Foreign exchange contracts

—

44

—

44

Interest rate swap contracts

—

2

—

Total assets at fair value

2

$

1,388

$

63

$

—

$

1,451

$

—

$

40

$

—

$

40

Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swap contract
Total liabilities at fair value

—
$

—

65
$

105

—
$

—

65
$

105

During the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020, the Company had no transfers of financial assets and liabilities between levels and there were
no changes in valuation techniques and the inputs used in the fair value measurement.
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Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value
The carrying value of the Company’s revolving credit facility approximates its fair value given the revolving nature of the balance and the variable
market interest rate. For financial instruments where the carrying value (which includes principal adjusted for any unamortized issuance costs, and
discounts or premiums) differs from fair value (which is based on quoted market prices), the following table represents the related carrying value and fair
value for each of the Company’s outstanding financial instruments. Each of the financial instruments presented below was categorized as Level 2 for all
periods presented, based on the frequency of trading immediately prior to the end of the third quarter of 2020 and the fourth quarter of 2019, respectively.
April 3, 2020
Carrying
Value

June 28, 2019
Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

(in millions)

0.50% convertible senior notes due 2020
Variable interest rate Term Loan A-1 maturing 2023

$

34

Variable interest rate U.S. Term Loan B-4 maturing 2023
1.50% convertible notes due 2024
4.75% senior unsecured notes due 2026
Total

$

33

$

33

$

31

4,637

4,413

4,824

4,780

1,693

1,640

2,424

2,370

980

966

958

986

2,285

2,256

2,283

2,263

9,629

21

$

$

9,308

$

10,522

$

10,430
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Note 6. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
As of April 3, 2020, the Company had outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts that were designated as either cash flow hedges or nondesignated hedges. Substantially all of the contract maturity dates of these foreign exchange forward contracts do not exceed 12 months. In addition, the
Company had outstanding pay-fixed interest rate swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges of variable rate interest payments on a portion of its term
loans through February 2023.
As of April 3, 2020, the amount of existing net losses related to cash flow hedges recorded in AOCI included $87 million related to the Company’s
interest rate swaps that is expected to be reclassified to earnings after twelve months. In addition, as of April 3, 2020, the Company did not have any
foreign exchange forward contracts with credit-risk-related contingent features.
Changes in fair values of the non-designated foreign exchange contracts are recognized in Other income (expense), net and are largely offset by
corresponding changes in the fair values of the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. For each of the three and nine months ended
April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, total net realized and unrealized transaction and foreign exchange contract currency gains and losses were not material
to the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Netting Arrangements
Under certain provisions and conditions within agreements with counterparties to the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts, subject to
applicable requirements, the Company has the right of offset associated with the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts and is allowed to net settle
transactions of the same currency with a single net amount payable by one party to the other. As of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019, the effect of rights of
offset was not material and the Company did not offset or net the fair value amounts of derivative instruments in its Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
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Note 7. Debt
Debt consisted of the following as of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019:
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

0.50% convertible senior notes due 2020

$

35

$

35

Variable interest rate Term Loan A-1 maturing 2023

4,645

4,834

Variable interest rate U.S. Term Loan B-4 maturing 2023

1,694

2,425

1.50% convertible notes due 2024

1,100

1,100

4.75% senior unsecured notes due 2026

2,300

2,300

9,774

10,694

Total debt
Issuance costs and debt discounts
Subtotal
Less current portion of long-term debt

(145)

(172)

9,629

10,522

(286)
$

Long-term debt

9,343

(276)
$

10,246

The credit agreement governing the revolving credit facility and Term Loan A-1 requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants,
consisting of a leverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. As of April 3, 2020, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants.
During the nine months ended April 3, 2020, the Company made aggregate voluntary prepayments of $725 million on its U.S. Term Loan B-4, which
were applied toward the remaining scheduled amortization and the remainder towards the principal due at maturity. As of April 3, 2020, there are no longer
any scheduled amortization payments due under the U.S. Term Loan B-4 prior to its maturity on April 29, 2023.
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Note 8. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans
The Company has pension and other post-retirement benefit plans in various countries. The Company’s principal pension plans are in Japan. All
pension and other post-retirement benefit plans outside of the Company’s Japanese defined benefit pension plan (the “Japanese Plan”) are immaterial to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The expected long-term rate of return on the Japanese Plan assets is 2.5%.
Obligations and Funded Status
The following table presents the unfunded status of the benefit obligations for the Japanese Plan:
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Benefit obligation at end of period

$

277

Fair value of plan assets at end of period

$

280

211
$

Unfunded status

66

208
$

72

The following table presents the unfunded amounts related to the Japanese Plan as recognized on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets:
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Current liabilities

$

Non-current liabilities

1

$

65
$

Net amount recognized

Net periodic benefit costs were not material for either the three or nine months ended April 3, 2020.
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66

1
71

$

72
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Note 9. Related Parties and Related Commitments and Contingencies
Flash Ventures
The Company’s business ventures with Kioxia Corporation (“Kioxia”) consist of three separate legal entities: Flash Partners Ltd. (“Flash Partners”),
Flash Alliance Ltd. (“Flash Alliance”), and Flash Forward Ltd. (“Flash Forward”), collectively referred to as “Flash Ventures”.
The following table presents the notes receivable from, and equity investments in, Flash Ventures as of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019:
April 3,
2020

June 28,
2019
(in millions)

Notes receivable, Flash Partners

$

335

$

551

Notes receivable, Flash Alliance

423

878

Notes receivable, Flash Forward

777

743

Investment in Flash Partners

200

200

Investment in Flash Alliance

297

296

Investment in Flash Forward

125
$

Total notes receivable and investments in Flash Ventures

2,157

123
$

2,791

During the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and during the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019, the Company made net payments
to Flash Ventures of $842 million and $2.36 billion, and $1.04 billion and $2.90 billion, respectively, for purchased flash-based memory wafers and net
loans and investments.
The Company makes, or will make, loans to Flash Ventures to fund equipment investments for new process technologies and additional wafer capacity.
The Company aggregates its Flash Ventures’ notes receivable into one class of financing receivables due to the similar ownership interest and common
structure in each Flash Venture entity. For all reporting periods presented, no loans were past due and no loan impairments were recorded. The Company’s
notes receivable from each Flash Ventures entity, denominated in Japanese yen, are secured by equipment owned by that Flash Ventures entity.
As of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019, the Company had Accounts payable balances due to Flash Ventures of $397 million and $331 million,
respectively.
The Company’s maximum reasonably estimable loss exposure (excluding lost profits) as a result of its involvement with Flash Ventures, based upon
the Japanese yen to U.S. dollar exchange rate at April 3, 2020, is presented below. Investments in Flash Ventures are denominated in Japanese yen, and the
maximum estimable loss exposure excludes any cumulative translation adjustment due to revaluation from the Japanese yen to the U.S. dollar.
April 3,
2020
(in millions)

Notes receivable

$

Equity investments

1,535
622

Operating lease guarantees

1,827

Inventory and prepayments

468
$

Maximum estimable loss exposure

25

4,452
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The Company is obligated to pay for variable costs incurred in producing its share of Flash Ventures’ flash-based memory wafer supply, based on its
three-month forecast, which generally equals 50% of Flash Ventures’ output. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay for half of Flash Ventures’ fixed
costs regardless of the output the Company chooses to purchase. The Company is not able to estimate its total wafer purchase commitment obligation
beyond its rolling three-month purchase commitment because the price is determined by reference to the future cost of producing the semiconductor
wafers. In addition, the Company is committed to fund 49.9% to 50.0% of each Flash Ventures entity’s capital investments to the extent that each Flash
Ventures entity’s operating cash flow is insufficient to fund these investments.
In June 2019, an unexpected power outage incident occurred at the flash-based memory manufacturing facilities operated by Flash Ventures in
Yokkaichi, Japan. The power outage incident impacted the facilities and process tools and resulted in the damage of flash wafers in production and a
reduction in the Company’s flash wafer availability. As a result of this incident, the Company incurred charges of $68 million in its fiscal 2020, all incurred
in the three months ended October 4, 2019, which were recorded in Cost of revenue and primarily consisted of unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs.
The Company continues to pursue recovery of its losses associated with this event; however, the total amount of recovery cannot be estimated at this time.
In May 2019, the Company entered into additional agreements with Kioxia to extend Flash Ventures to a new wafer fabrication facility, known as
“K1,” located in Kitakami, Japan. The primary purpose of K1 is to provide clean room space to continue the transition of existing flash-based wafer
capacity to newer technology nodes. Output from the initial production line at K1 began in the third quarter of fiscal year 2020, although meaningful output
from K1 is not expected to begin until the end of calendar 2020. The Company’s share of the initial commitment for K1 will result in equipment
investments, relocation and other start-up costs which are expected to be incurred primarily through the end of fiscal year 2020. The Company also agreed
to prepay an aggregate of approximately $360 million over a 3-year period beginning in the first half of fiscal year 2020 toward K1 building depreciation,
to be credited against future wafer charges. As of April 3, 2020, remaining committed prepayments totaled $205 million.
Inventory Purchase Commitments with Flash Ventures. Purchase orders placed under Flash Ventures for up to three months are binding and cannot be
canceled.
Research and Development Activities. The Company participates in common research and development (“R&D”) activities with Kioxia and is
contractually committed to a minimum funding level. R&D commitments are immaterial to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Off-Balance Sheet Liabilities
Flash Ventures sells to and leases back from a consortium of financial institutions a portion of its tools and has entered into equipment lease
agreements of which the Company guarantees half or all of the outstanding obligations under each lease agreement. The lease agreements are subject to
customary covenants and cancellation events related to Flash Ventures and each of the guarantors. The occurrence of a cancellation event could result in an
acceleration of Flash Ventures’ obligations and a call on the Company’s guarantees.
The following table presents the Company’s portion of the remaining guarantee obligations under the Flash Ventures’ lease facilities in both Japanese
yen and U.S. dollar-equivalent, based upon the Japanese yen to U.S. dollar exchange rate as of April 3, 2020.
Lease Amounts
(Japanese yen, in
billions)

Total guarantee obligations

¥

26

198

(U.S. dollar, in
millions)

$

1,827
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The following table details the breakdown of the Company’s remaining guarantee obligations between the principal amortization and the purchase
option exercise price at the end of the term of the Flash Ventures lease agreements, in annual installments as of April 3, 2020 in U.S. dollars, based upon the
Japanese yen to U.S. dollar exchange rate as of April 3, 2020:
Payment of Principal
Amortization

Annual Installments

Purchase Option
Exercise Price at Final
Lease Terms

Guarantee Amount

(in millions)

Remaining three months of 2020

$

128

$

20

$

148

2021

450

108

558

2022

370

49

419

2023

259

67

326

2024

123

120

243

23

110

Thereafter
$

Total guarantee obligations

1,353

$

474

133
$

1,827

The Company and Kioxia have agreed to mutually contribute to, and indemnify each other and Flash Ventures for, environmental remediation costs or
liability resulting from Flash Ventures’ manufacturing operations in certain circumstances. The Company has not made any indemnification payments, nor
recorded any indemnification receivables, under any such agreements. As of April 3, 2020, no amounts have been accrued in the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements with respect to these indemnification agreements.
Unis Venture
The Company has a joint venture with Unisplendour Corporation Limited and Unissoft (Wuxi) Group Co. Ltd. (“Unis”), referred to as the “Unis
Venture”, to market and sell the Company’s products in China. The Unis Venture is 49% owned by the Company and 51% owned by Unis. The Company
accounts for its investment in the Unis Venture under the equity method of accounting. Revenue on products distributed by the Unis Venture is recognized
upon sell through to third-party customers. For both the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, the Company recognized
approximately 1% of its consolidated revenue on products distributed by the Unis Venture. The outstanding accounts receivable due from and investment in
the Unis Venture were not material to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of April 3, 2020 or June 28, 2019.
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Note 10. Leases and Other Commitments
Leases
The Company leases certain domestic and international facilities and data center space under long-term, non-cancelable operating leases that expire at
various dates through 2034. These leases include no material variable or contingent lease payments. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized
based on the present value of the remaining lease payments discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Operating lease assets also
include prepaid lease payments minus any lease incentives. Extension or termination options present in the Company’s lease agreements are included in
determining the right-of-use asset and lease liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise those options. Lease expense is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The following table summarizes supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of April 3,
2020:
Lease Amounts

Minimum lease payments by fiscal year:

(in millions)

Remaining three months of 2020

$

12

2021

43

2022

30

2023

26

2024

28

Thereafter

170

Total future minimum lease payments

309

Less: Imputed Interest

(61)

Present value of lease liabilities

248

Less: Current portion (included in Accrued expenses)

34

Long-term operating lease liabilities (included in Other liabilities)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (included in Other non-current assets)

$

214

$

233

Weighted average remaining lease term in years

9.3

Weighted average discount rate

4.2 %

The following table summarizes supplemental disclosures of operating cost and cash flow information related to operating leases for the three and nine
months ended April 3, 2020:
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

(in millions)

Cost of operating leases

$

Cash paid for operating leases
Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

28

12

$

42

12

41

1

51
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Purchase Agreements and Other Commitments
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into purchase orders with suppliers for the purchase of components used to manufacture its
products. These purchase orders generally cover forecasted component supplies needed for production during the next quarter, are recorded as a liability
upon receipt of the components, and generally may be changed or canceled at any time prior to shipment of the components. The Company also enters into
long-term agreements with suppliers that contain fixed future commitments, which are contingent on certain conditions such as performance, quality and
technology of the vendor’s components. As of April 3, 2020, the Company had the following minimum long-term commitments:
Long-term
commitments
(in millions)

Fiscal year:
Remaining three months of 2020

$

61

2021

320

2022

510

2023

563

2024

260

Thereafter

338
$

Total

29

2,052
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Note 11. Shareholders’ Equity
Stock-based Compensation Expense
The following tables present the Company’s stock-based compensation for equity-settled awards by type and financial statement line as well as the
related tax benefit included in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Options

$

1

Restricted and performance stock units

3

68

Employee stock purchase plan

78

$

5

71

9
$

Total

$

10
$

84

12
208

23
$

232

Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

$

204

22
$

242

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Cost of revenue

$

13

$

13

$

38

$

37

Research and development

41

41

Selling, general and administrative

24

30

71

83

78

84

232

242

Subtotal
Tax benefit

(9)
$

Total

69

123

(14)
$

70

122

(32)
$

200

(39)
$

203

Windfall tax benefits related to the vesting and exercise of stock-based awards, which are recognized as a component of the Company’s Income tax
expense, were immaterial for the periods presented.
Compensation cost related to unvested stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-based stock units (“PSUs”), and rights to purchase
shares of common stock under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) will generally be amortized on a straight-line basis over the
remaining average service period. The following table presents the unamortized compensation cost and weighted average service period of all unvested
outstanding awards as of April 3, 2020:

Options

Unamortized
Compensation Costs

Weighted Average
Service Period

(in millions)

(years)

$

RSUs and PSUs (1)
ESPP
$

Total unamortized compensation cost
(1) Weighted

average service period assumes the performance metrics are met for the PSUs.

30

2

0.3

610

2.6

41

1.2

653
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Plan Activities
Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Company’s incentive plans:
Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

Number of Shares
(in millions)

Options outstanding at June 28, 2019

3.9

$

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

(in years)

(in millions)

65.72

Exercised

(0.8)

43.39

Canceled or expired

$

11

(0.3)

92.67

Options outstanding at April 3, 2020

2.8

68.97

2.3

$

—

Exercisable at April 3, 2020

2.6

70.89

2.2

$

—

RSUs and PSUs
The following table summarizes RSU and PSU activity under the Company’s incentive plans:
Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value at Vest Date

(in millions)

RSUs and PSUs outstanding at June 28, 2019

(in millions)

11.6

$

62.07

Granted

7.0

56.08

Vested

(4.2)

58.21

Forfeited

(1.1)

63.28

13.3

61.56

RSUs and PSUs outstanding at April 3, 2020

$

243

RSUs and PSUs are generally settled in an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock at the time of vesting of the units.
Stock Repurchase Program
The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $5.0 billion of the Company’s common
stock, which authorization is effective through July 25, 2023. For the nine months ended April 3, 2020, the Company did not make any stock repurchases.
The remaining amount available to be repurchased under the Company’s current stock repurchase program as of April 3, 2020 was $4.5 billion.
Repurchases under the stock repurchase program may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and may be made under a Rule
10b5-1 plan. The Company expects stock repurchases to be funded principally by operating cash flows.
Dividends to Shareholders
Since the first quarter of 2013, the Company has issued a quarterly cash dividend. During the nine months ended April 3, 2020, the Company declared
aggregate cash dividends of $1.50 per share on its outstanding common stock totaling $448 million, of which $150 million was paid on April 17, 2020. The
Company has since suspended its dividend to reinvest in the business and to support its ongoing deleveraging efforts.
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Note 12. Income Tax Expense
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
in the U.S. The CARES Act, among other things, allows NOLs arising in tax years 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding
taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes and increases the business interest expense limitation from 30% to 50% of adjusted
taxable income for tax years 2019 and 2020. Additionally, countries around the world continue to implement emergency tax measures to provide relief
similar to the CARES Act. The Company at present does not expect any of the provisions of the CARES Act or the emergency tax measures around the
world would result in a material cash benefit. However, the Company continues to monitor and evaluate the regulatory and interpretive guidance related to
the CARES Act as well as in other jurisdictions.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Act”), enacted on December 22, 2017, includes a broad range of tax reform proposals affecting businesses. The
Company completed its accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the 2017 Act during the second quarter of fiscal 2019. However, the U.S.
Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) have issued tax guidance on certain provisions of the 2017 Act since the enactment date, and the
Company anticipates the issuance of additional regulatory and interpretive guidance. The Company applied a reasonable interpretation of the 2017 Act
along with the then-available guidance in finalizing its accounting for the tax effects of the 2017 Act. Any additional regulatory or interpretive guidance
would constitute new information, which may require further refinements to the Company’s estimates in future periods.
The following table presents the Company’s Income tax expense and the effective tax rate:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Income (loss) before taxes

$

46

$

(477)

$

(231)

$

187

Income tax expense

29

104

167

744

Effective tax rate

63 %

(22) %

(72) %

398 %

The primary drivers of the difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and the U.S. Federal statutory
rate of 21% are the relative mix of earnings and losses by jurisdiction, the deduction for foreign derived intangible income, credits and tax holidays in
Malaysia, Philippines and Thailand that will expire at various dates during fiscal years 2021 through 2030. In addition, the effective tax rate for the nine
months ended April 3, 2020 includes the discrete effect of a de-recognition of $31 million for certain deferred tax assets associated with the Company’s
creditable foreign withholding taxes due to the issuance of final regulatory guidance. The regulatory guidance does not preclude the Company from
potentially claiming these creditable taxes as a period benefit when paid.
The primary driver of the difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019 and the U.S. Federal statutory
rate of 21% is the discrete effect of the finalization of the accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the 2017 Act. For the three months ended
March 29, 2019, these discrete effects consist of an income tax benefit of $71 million related to the mandatory deemed repatriation tax. For the nine months
ended March 29, 2019, these discrete effects consist of $107 million related to the mandatory deemed repatriation tax and $152 million related to the
Company’s decision to change its indefinite reinvestment assertion. For both periods, the remaining difference primarily is attributable to an increase in the
estimated effective tax rate due to changes in the relative mix of earnings by jurisdiction, partially offset by credits and tax holidays.
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The IRS previously completed its field examination of the Company’s federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2008 through 2012 and proposed
certain adjustments. As previously disclosed, the Company received Revenue Agent Reports from the IRS for fiscal years 2008 through 2009, proposing
adjustments relating to transfer pricing with the Company’s foreign subsidiaries and intercompany payable balances. The Company disagrees with the
proposed adjustments and in September 2015, filed a protest with the IRS Appeals Office and received the IRS rebuttal in July 2016. The Company and the
IRS Appeals Office did not reach a settlement on the disputed matters. On June 28, 2018, the IRS issued a statutory notice of deficiency with respect to the
disputed matters for fiscal years 2008 through 2009, seeking to increase the Company’s U.S. taxable income by an amount that would result in additional
federal tax through fiscal year 2009 totaling approximately $516 million, subject to interest and penalties. The Company filed a petition with the U.S. Tax
Court in September 2018. On December 10, 2018, the IRS issued a statutory notice of deficiency with respect to fiscal years 2010 through 2012, seeking to
increase the Company’s U.S. taxable income by an amount that would result in additional federal tax for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 totaling
approximately $549 million, subject to interest and penalties. Approximately $535 million of the total additional federal tax for fiscal years 2010 through
2012 relates to proposed adjustments for transfer pricing with the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, intercompany payable balances and the utilization of
certain tax attributes. The Company filed a petition with the U.S. Tax Court in March 2019. The U.S. Tax Court consolidated the case for fiscal years 2008
through 2009 with the case for fiscal years 2010 through 2012. On May 4, 2020, the IRS filed with the U.S. Tax Court Amendments to Answer to assert
penalties totaling $340 million on the proposed adjustments relating to transfer pricing with respect to fiscal years 2008 through 2009 and fiscal years 2010
through 2012. The Company continues to believe that its tax positions are properly supported and will vigorously contest the position taken by the IRS.
The Company believes that adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may result from tax examinations. However, the outcome of tax
examinations cannot be predicted with certainty. If any issues addressed in the Company’s tax examinations are resolved in a manner not consistent with
management’s expectations, the Company could be required to adjust its provision for income taxes in the period such resolution occurs. As of April 3,
2020, it was not possible to estimate the amount of change, if any, in the unrecognized tax benefits that is reasonably possible within the next twelve
months. Any significant change in the amount of the Company’s liability for unrecognized tax benefits would most likely result from additional
information or settlements relating to the examination of the Company’s tax returns.
As of April 3, 2020, the liability for unrecognized tax benefits (excluding accrued interest and penalties) was approximately $710 million. Accrued
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as of April 3, 2020 was approximately $136 million. Of these amounts, approximately $716
million could result in potential cash payments. The Company is not able to provide a reasonable estimate of the timing of future tax payments related to
these obligations.
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Note 13. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per common share:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions, except per share data)

Net income (loss)

$

17

$

(581)

$

(398)

$

(557)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Employee stock options, RSUs, PSUs and ESPP
Diluted

299

292

298

291

4

—

—

—

303

292

298

291

Income (loss) per common share
Basic

$

0.06

$

(1.99)

$

(1.34)

$

(1.91)

Diluted

$

0.06

$

(1.99)

$

(1.34)

$

(1.91)

Anti-dilutive potential common shares excluded

3

17

15

17

The Company computes basic income (loss) per common share using Net income (loss) and the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted income (loss) per common share is computed using Net income (loss) and the weighted average number of common
shares and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive common shares include dilutive outstanding employee
stock options, RSUs and PSUs, and rights to purchase shares of common stock under the Company’s ESPP. For the three months ended April 3, 2020, the
Company excluded common shares subject to outstanding equity awards from the calculation of diluted shares because their impact would have been antidilutive based on the Company’s average stock price during the period. For the nine months ended April 3, 2020 and the three and nine months ended
March 29, 2019, the Company recorded net losses, and all shares subject to outstanding equity awards have been excluded for those periods because
including them would be anti-dilutive.
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Note 14. Employee Termination, Asset Impairment and Other Charges
The Company recorded the following charges related to employee termination benefits, asset impairment, and other charges:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Employee termination and other charges:
Closure of Foreign Manufacturing Facilities

$

1

Business Realignment
Total employee termination and other charges

$

5

$

5

$

16

7

71

37

126

8

76

42

142

—

—

(17)

—

Gain on disposition of assets:
Business Realignment
Total gain on disposition of assets
Total employee termination, asset impairment, and other charges

—
$

8

—
$

76

(17)
$

25

—
$

142

Closure of Foreign Manufacturing Facilities
In July 2018, the Company announced the closing of its HDD manufacturing facility in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, in order to reduce its manufacturing
costs and consolidate HDD operations into Thailand. The Company substantially completed the closure in fiscal year 2019.
The following table presents an analysis of the components of the restructuring charges, payments and adjustments made against the reserve during the
nine months ended April 3, 2020:
Employee
Termination Benefits

Contract Termination
and Other

Total

(in millions)

Accrual balance at June 28, 2019

$

Charges
Cash payments
$

Accrual balance at April 3, 2020

35

30

$

2

$

32

3

2

5

(26)

(4)

(30)

7

$

—

$

7

Table of Contents
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Business Realignment
The Company periodically incurs charges as part of the integration process of recent acquisitions and to realign its operations with anticipated market
demand, primarily consisting of organization rationalization designed to streamline its business, reduce its cost structure and focus its resources. In addition
to the amounts recognized under Business Realignment as presented above, the Company recognized $5 million of accelerated depreciation on facility
assets in Cost of revenue and Operating expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended April 3, 2020.
The following table presents an analysis of the components of the activity against the reserve during the nine months ended April 3, 2020:
Employee
Termination Benefits

Contract Termination
and Other

Total

(in millions)

Accrual balance at June 28, 2019

$

Charges
Cash payments
$

Accrual balance at April 3, 2020

36

37

$

8

$

45

16

4

20

(39)

(12)

(51)

14

$

—

$

14
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Note 15. Legal Proceedings
Tax
For disclosures regarding statutory notices of deficiency issued by the IRS on June 28, 2018 and December 10, 2018, and petitions filed by the
Company with the U.S. Tax Court in September 2018 and March 2019, see Note 12, Income Tax Expense.
Other Matters
In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims. Although the ultimate aggregate amount of
probable monetary liability or financial impact with respect to these other matters is subject to many uncertainties, management believes that any monetary
liability or financial impact to the Company from these matters, individually and in the aggregate, would not be material to the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, any monetary liability and financial impact to the Company from these matters could differ
materially from the Company’s expectations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, and should be read in
conjunction with the disclosures we make concerning risks and other factors that may affect our business and operating results. You should read this
information in conjunction with the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto and Part II, Item 8, contained in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the
fiscal year ended June 28, 2019. See also “Forward-Looking Statements” immediately prior to Part I, Item 1 in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to specific years and quarters are to our fiscal years and fiscal quarters. As used herein, the terms “we,”
“us,” “our,” and the “Company” refer to Western Digital Corporation and its subsidiaries.
Our Company
We are a leading developer, manufacturer and provider of data storage devices and solutions that address the evolving needs of the information
technology (“IT”) industry and the infrastructure that enables the proliferation of data in virtually every other industry. We create environments for data to
thrive. We drive the innovation needed to help customers capture, preserve, access and transform an ever-increasing diversity of data. Everywhere data
lives, from advanced data centers to mobile sensors to personal devices, our industry-leading solutions deliver the possibilities of data.
Our broad portfolio of technology and products address the following key end markets: Client Devices; Data Center Devices and Solutions; and Client
Solutions. We also generate license and royalty revenue from our extensive intellectual property (“IP”), which is included in each of these three end market
categories.
Our fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to June 30 and typically consists of 52 weeks. Approximately every five to six years, we report a 53-week
fiscal year to align the fiscal year with the foregoing policy. Fiscal year 2020, which ends on July 3, 2020, will be comprised of 53 weeks, with the first
quarter consisting of 14 weeks and the remaining quarters consisting of 13 weeks each. Fiscal year 2019, which ended on June 28, 2019, was comprised of
52 weeks, with all quarters presented consisting of 13 weeks.
Key Developments
COVID-19 Pandemic
In December 2019, coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) was first reported in Wuhan, China, and on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. In recent months, the COVID-19 outbreak has spread globally and has led governments and other
authorities around the world, including federal, state and local authorities in the United States, to impose measures intended to reduce its spread, including
restrictions on freedom of movement and business operations such as travel bans, border closings, business limitations and closures (subject to exceptions
for essential operations and businesses), quarantines and shelter-in-place orders. These measures may remain in place for a significant amount of time. In
light of these events, we have taken actions to protect the health and safety of our employees while continuing to serve our global customers as an essential
business. We have implemented more thorough sanitation practices as outlined by health organizations and instituted social distancing policies at our
locations around the world, including working from home, limiting the number of employees attending meetings, reducing the number of people in our
sites at any one time, and suspending employee travel. These actions have resulted in some reductions of production levels as we adapt to a more limited
number of employees in facilities and, as a result, we incurred charges of approximately $13 million in cost of revenue related to under-absorbed overhead
and higher logistics and other costs during the three months ended April 3, 2020. In the near term, we expect COVID-19 related charges to be higher in the
fourth quarter, partially offset by increased pricing for our products.
As an essential business, we continue to provide products and solutions that enable the proliferation of data and facilitate the sharing of information
remotely, which has become more critical as much of the world is interacting from areas of self-isolation. While we have experienced some reductions of
sales in certain areas such as retail in our Client Solutions end market where brick and mortar operations were impacted, we have seen strong demand for
capacity enterprise products in our Data Center Devices and Solutions end market as the current environment has accelerated the movement to the Cloud.
As such, our net revenue for the third quarter was not significantly impacted by COVID-19. However, we cannot predict the duration of this crisis and how
demand may change if it becomes more protracted.
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We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions altering our business operations that we determine are in the best
interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stakeholders, or as required by federal, state, or local authorities. See “The recent COVID-19
pandemic could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition” in Part II, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for more information regarding the risks we face as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Flash Ventures
Through our three business ventures with Kioxia Corporation (“Kioxia”), referred to as “Flash Ventures”, we and Kioxia operate flash-based memory
wafer manufacturing facilities in Japan. We are obligated to pay for variable costs incurred in producing our share of Flash Ventures’ flash-based memory
wafer supply, based on our three-month forecast, which generally equals 50% of Flash Ventures’ output. In addition, we are obligated to pay for half of
Flash Ventures’ fixed costs regardless of the output we choose to purchase. We are also obligated to fund 49.9% to 50% of Flash Ventures’ capital
investments to the extent that Flash Ventures’ operating cash flow is insufficient to fund these investments.
Since its inception, Flash Ventures’ primary manufacturing site has been located in Yokkaichi, Japan, which currently includes five wafer fabrication
facilities. These facilities historically operated near 100% of their manufacturing capacity. As a result of supply/demand imbalance for flash-based products
arising in the prior year, we temporarily reduced our utilization of our share of Flash Ventures’ manufacturing capacity to an abnormally low level for
several quarters to more closely align our flash-based wafer supply with the projected demand. As a result of this temporary reduction to abnormally low
production levels, we incurred costs of $148 million and $197 million associated with the reduction in utilization, which was recorded as a charge to cost of
revenue in the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019, respectively. In addition, production levels at the Yokkaichi site were temporarily reduced as a
result of an unexpected power outage incident that occurred in the Yokkaichi region on June 15, 2019. The power outage incident impacted the facilities
and process tools and resulted in the damage of flash wafers in production. The incident resulted in a reduction of our flash wafer availability by
approximately 4 exabytes, the majority of which was contained in the first quarter of fiscal year 2020. As a result of this power outage incident, we
incurred aggregate charges of $68 million and $145 million recorded in Cost of revenue in the quarters ended October 4, 2019 and June 28, 2019,
respectively, which primarily consisted of the write-off of damaged inventory and unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs. We continue to pursue
recovery of our losses associated with this event; however, the total amount of recovery cannot be estimated at this time.
In May 2019, we entered into additional agreements with Kioxia to extend Flash Ventures to a new wafer fabrication facility, known as “K1,” located
in Kitakami, Japan. The primary purpose of K1 is to provide clean room space to continue the transition of existing flash-based wafer capacity to newer
technology nodes. Output from the initial production line at K1 began in the third quarter of fiscal year 2020, although meaningful output from K1 is not
expected to begin until the end of calendar 2020. We have paid for most of our share of initial K1 equipment investments and relocation costs, with
approximately $65 million remaining to be paid in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020. Other period expenses associated with the initial production ramp
at K1 will begin trailing off as output increases toward the end of the calendar year. We also agreed to prepay an aggregate of approximately $360 million
over a 3-year period beginning in the first half of fiscal year 2020 toward K1 building depreciation, to be credited against future wafer charges. As of
April 3, 2020, remaining committed prepayments totaled $205 million.
Exit of Storage Systems Business
In September 2019, we announced the sale of our IntelliFlash business and our strategic intention to exit Storage Systems, which consists of
IntelliFlash and ActiveScale. These actions will allow us to redirect investments to other higher value priorities. In November 2019, the Company
completed its sale of IntelliFlash for a price of $28 million, to be collected over the next three years. The sale of our IntelliFlash business included an
immaterial amount of inventory, other tangible and intangible assets, and goodwill and resulted in a gain of approximately $17 million recorded in
Employee termination, asset impairment, and other charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for both the three and nine months
ended January 3, 2020. Additionally, in March 2020, we completed the sale of ActiveScale. The net assets sold and the proceeds from the sale of
ActiveScale were not material.
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Results of Operations
Third Quarter and Nine Month Overview
The following table sets forth, for the periods presented, selected summary information from our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations by
dollars and percentage of net revenue(1):
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

$ Change

% Change

($ in millions)

Revenue, net

$

4,175

100.0 % $

3,674

100.0 % $

501

14 %

Cost of revenue

3,170

75.9

3,095

84.2

75

2

Gross profit

1,005

24.1

579

15.8

426

74

Research and development

563

13.5

544

14.8

19

3

Selling, general and administrative

281

6.7

353

9.6

(72)

(20)
(89)

Operating Expenses:

Employee termination, asset impairment, and other charges
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

8

0.2

76

2.1

(68)

852

20.4

973

26.5

(121)

(12)

153

3.7

(394)

(10.7)

547

(139)
(54)

Interest and other income (expense):
Interest income

6

0.1

13

0.4

(7)

Interest expense

(99)

(2.4)

(118)

(3.2)

19

(16)

Other income (expense), net

(14)

(0.3)

22

0.6

(36)

(164)

Total interest and other expense, net

(107)

(2.6)

(83)

(2.3)

(24)

29

Income (loss) before taxes

46

1.1

(477)

(13.0)

523

(110)

Income tax expense

29

0.7

104

2.8

(75)

(72)

17

0.4

(581)

(15.8)

598

(103)

Net income (loss)

(1) Percentages

$

may not total due to rounding.
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Nine Months Ended
April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

$ Change

% Change

($ in millions)

Revenue, net

$

12,449

100.0 % $

12,935

100.0 % $

(486)

(4) %

Cost of revenue

9,751

78.3

9,648

74.6

103

1

Gross profit

2,698

21.7

3,287

25.4

(589)

(18)

1,715

13.8

1,659

12.8

56

3

884

7.1

1,018

7.9

(134)

(13)
(82)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Employee termination, asset impairment, and other charges
Total operating expenses
Operating income

25

0.2

142

1.1

(117)

2,624

21.1

2,819

21.8

(195)

(7)

74

0.6

468

3.6

(394)

(84)
(40)

Interest and other income (expense):
Interest income

26

0.2

43

0.3

(17)

Interest expense

(326)

(2.6)

(352)

(2.7)

26

(7)

(5)

—

28

0.2

(33)

(118)

(305)

(2.4)

(281)

(2.2)

(24)

9

(231)

(1.9)

187

1.4

(418)

(224)

167

1.3

744

5.8

(577)

(78)

(398)

(3.2)

(557)

(4.3)

159

(29)

Other income (expense), net
Total interest and other expense, net
Income (loss) before taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
(1) Percentages

$

$

may not total due to rounding.

The following table sets forth, for the periods presented, summary information regarding our revenue:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

(in millions)

Revenue by Product
Hard disk drives (“HDD”)

$

2,114

Flash-based
Total Revenue

$

2,061

2,064

$

1,610

6,918

$

6,618

5,531

6,317

$

4,175

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935

$

1,831

$

1,625

$

5,244

$

6,489

Revenue by End Market
Client Devices
Data Center Devices & Solutions

1,523

Client Solutions
Total Revenue

1,245

821

4,544

804

3,765

2,661

2,681

$

4,175

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935

$

1,325

$

1,070

$

3,934

$

3,367

Revenue by Geography
Americas
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Asia
Total Revenue

$

770

748

2,360

2,394

2,080

1,856

6,155

7,174

4,175

41

$

3,674

$

12,449

$

12,935
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Net Revenue
The increase in net revenue for the three months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior year reflects higher volumes of memory
for both HDD and flash products that contributed approximately 15 and 17 percentage points of growth, respectively, which were partially offset by lower
average selling prices. Client Devices revenue increased 13% year over year. Higher volumes of memory contributed 16 percentage points of growth,
primarily from client compute SSD and mobililty, partially offset by lower HDD pricing. Our revenue for Data Center Devices and Solutions increased
22% year over year, with volumes up 38% due to strength in both capacity enterprise HDD and SSD, partially offset by lower average selling prices with
more efficient form factors. Client Solutions revenue increased 2% year over year with volume of memory up approximately 12 percentage points ,
primarily in flash products, partially offset by lower year-over-year pricing. While pricing for flash products remains down compared to the prior year,
pricing has increased compared to last quarter and we expect flash pricing to continue to increase in the near term, if supply and demand become more
closely aligned as expected.
The slight decrease in net revenue for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior year reflects lower average selling
prices which generated approximately 31 percentage points of the year-over-year decline, partially offset by higher HDD volumes contributing
approximately 17 percentage points of growth and higher volumes of flash products contributing approximately 10 percentage points of growth. Client
Devices revenue decreased 19% year over year, with approximately 14 percentage points due to lower average selling prices, predominantly related to flash
products, and lower volumes for HDD products. Our revenue for Data Center Devices and Solutions increased 21% year over year, resulting from an
approximately 44 percentage points of growth in volume of memory, primarily driven by strength in capacity enterprise HDD, partially offset by lower
average selling prices with more efficient form factors. Client Solutions revenue was essentially flat year over year, with approximately 12 percentage
points of growth from higher volumes of memory largely offset by lower prices on retail products.
The changes in net revenue by geography for the year to date reflect a decrease in Asia earlier this year primarily driven by our decision to limit our
participation in the mobile market resulting in lower sales to manufacturers in the Asia region and a slight increase in the Americas driven by increased
sales of capacity enterprise HDD.
Our top 10 customers accounted for 44% of our net revenue for both the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020, and 41% and 45% of our net
revenue for the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019, respectively. For the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, no
single customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s net revenue.
Consistent with standard industry practice, we have sales incentive and marketing programs that provide customers with price protection and other
incentives or reimbursements that are recorded as a reduction to gross revenue. For the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020, these programs
represented 15% and 16%, respectively, of gross revenues. For the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019, these programs represented 17% and
15%, respectively, of gross revenues. The amounts attributed to our sales incentive and marketing programs generally vary according to several factors
including industry conditions, list pricing strategies, seasonal demand, competitor actions, channel mix and overall availability of products. Changes in
future customer demand and market conditions may require us to adjust our incentive programs as a percentage of gross revenue.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
The increase in Gross profit for the three months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior year was primarily due to the increase in
revenues for the period as noted above, as well as manufacturing underutilization charges of $148 million incurred in the prior year, a charge to cost of
revenue of $110 million in the prior year primarily to reduce component inventory to net realizable value for flash-based multi-chip package products that
include externally-sourced dynamic random access memory products, and $43 million of higher charges in the prior year related to amortization expense on
acquired intangible assets. Gross margin increased 8 percentage points for the three months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior
year, substantially all of which is attributable to these costs in the prior year.
The decrease in Gross profit for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable periods in the prior year was due to the decrease in revenues
for the period as noted above, partially offset by lower aggregate charges for amortization expense on acquired intangible assets, manufacturing
underutilization charges, the charge to reduce inventory to net realizable value, and charges related to the power outage incident. These charges aggregated
$534 million and $945 million, or 4% and 7% of net revenue, for the nine-month periods ended April 3, 2020 and March 29, 2019, respectively. Gross
margin declined 3 percentage points for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior year, with substantially all of the
decline attributable to the lower aggregate charges noted above.
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Operating Expenses
Research and development (“R&D”) expense increased $19 million for the three months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior
year primarily due to increased variable compensation. R&D expense increased $56 million for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable
period in the prior year, reflecting approximately $30 million of additional expense related to the additional week in the current year with the remainder
primarily attributable to higher variable compensation.
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense decreased $72 million for the three months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in
the prior year primarily due to approximately $50 million lower litigation-related and outside services costs as well as savings realized from our cost
reduction actions. SG&A expense decreased $134 million for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 from the comparable period in the prior year primarily
due to approximately $80 million lower litigation-related and outside services costs, approximately $40 million of savings from the exit of our storage
systems business as well as savings from our cost reduction actions, partially offset by approximately $10 million of additional expense related to the
additional week in the current year.
Employee termination, asset impairment and other charges decreased from the comparable periods in the prior year as many of the actions initiated in
the prior year have been substantially completed. For additional information regarding employee termination, asset impairment and other charges, see
Part I, Item 1, Note 14, Employee Termination, Asset Impairment and Other Charges, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Interest and Other Income (Expense)
The increases in total interest and other expense, net for both the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 primarily reflect less Interest income
resulting from lower invested cash in the current year and gains on the sales of investments included in Other income (expense), net in the prior year,
partially offset by decreases in Interest expense resulting from the pay-down of principal on our debt and lower index rates.
Income Tax Expense
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Act”) includes a broad range of tax reform proposals affecting businesses. We completed our accounting for the
tax effects of the enactment of the 2017 Act during the second quarter of fiscal 2019. However, the U.S. Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”)
have issued tax guidance on certain provisions of the 2017 Act since the enactment date, and we anticipate the issuance of additional regulatory and
interpretive guidance. We applied a reasonable interpretation of the 2017 Act along with the then-available guidance in finalizing our accounting for the tax
effects of the 2017 Act. Any additional regulatory or interpretive guidance would constitute new information, which may require further refinements to our
estimates in future periods.
The following table sets forth income tax information from our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations by dollar and effective tax rate:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

Nine Months Ended

March 29,
2019

April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019

($ in millions)
Income (loss) before taxes

$

46

$

(477)

$

(231)

$

187

Income tax expense

29

104

167

744

Effective tax rate

63 %

(22) %

(72) %

398 %

The primary drivers of the difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended April 3, 2020 and the U.S. Federal statutory
rate of 21% are the relative mix of earnings and losses by jurisdiction, the deduction for foreign derived intangible income, credits and tax holidays in
Malaysia, Philippines and Thailand that will expire at various dates during fiscal years 2021 through 2030. In addition, the effective tax rate for the nine
months ended April 3, 2020 includes the discrete effect of a de-recognition of $31 million for certain deferred tax assets associated with creditable foreign
withholding taxes due to the issuance of final regulatory guidance. The regulatory guidance does not preclude us from potentially claiming these creditable
taxes as a period benefit when paid.
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The primary driver of the difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended March 29, 2019 and the U.S. Federal statutory
rate of 21% is the discrete effect of the finalization of the accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the 2017 Act. For the three months ended
March 29, 2019, these discrete effects consist of income tax benefits of $71 million related to the mandatory deemed repatriation. For the nine months
ended March 29, 2019, these discrete effects consist of $107 million related to the mandatory deemed repatriation tax and $152 million related to the
decision to change our indefinite reinvestment assertion. For both periods, the remaining difference is attributable primarily to an increase in the estimated
effective tax rate due to changes in the relative mix of earnings by jurisdiction, partially offset by credits and tax holidays.
Our future effective tax rate is subject to future regulatory developments and changes in the mix of our U.S. earnings compared to foreign
earnings. Our total tax expense in future fiscal years may also vary as a result of discrete items such as excess tax benefits or deficiencies.
For additional information regarding Income tax expense (benefit), see Part I, Item 1, Note 12, Income Tax Expense, of the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes our statements of cash flows:
Nine Months Ended
April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019
(in millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

652

$

1,378

Investing activities

192

(1,042)

Financing activities

(1,354)

(1,657)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(2)
$

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(512)

(2)
$

(1,323)

We believe our cash, cash equivalents and cash generated from operations as well as our available credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, debt and capital expenditure needs for at least the next twelve months. Our ability to sustain our working capital position is subject to a
number of risks that we discuss in Part II, Item 1A, Risk Factors, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
During fiscal 2020, we expect expenditures for property, plant and equipment for our company plus our portion of the capital expenditures by our
Flash Ventures joint venture with Kioxia for its operations to aggregate approximately $1.7 billion. After consideration of the Flash Ventures’ lease
financing of its capital expenditures and cash flow from operations, we expect the Flash Ventures to continue to return cash to our company through net
payments on our notes receivable during the remainder of fiscal 2020. As such, we expect net cash used for our purchases of property, plant and equipment
and net activity in notes receivable relating to Flash Ventures to be a cash inflow of approximately $250 million. The total expected cash to be used could
vary depending on the timing and completion of various capital projects and the availability, timing and terms of related financing.
During fiscal 2019, we made the determination that it was our intention to repatriate all of our foreign undistributed earnings as a result of the 2017
Act, except a portion of our foreign undistributed earnings, which could result in additional federal taxes based on interpretive guidance issued by the IRS.
After consideration of this interpretative guidance affecting the taxation of a certain portion of our foreign undistributed earnings, we made the
determination that we do not intend to repatriate this portion of our foreign undistributed earnings and did not establish an accrual for this liability.
A total of $2.14 billion and $2.37 billion of our Cash and cash equivalents was held outside of the U.S. as of April 3, 2020 and June 28, 2019,
respectively. As a result of the change in our permanent reinvestment assertion, there are no material tax consequences that were not previously accrued for
on the repatriation of this cash.
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Operating Activities
Cash flow from operating activities primarily consists of net income, adjusted for non-cash charges, plus or minus changes in operating assets and
liabilities. This represents our principal source of cash. Net cash used for changes in operating assets and liabilities was $331 million for the nine months
ended April 3, 2020, as compared to $7 million of net cash used for changes in operating assets and liabilities for the nine months ended March 29, 2019.
Changes in our operating assets and liabilities are largely affected by our working capital requirements, which are dependent on the effective management
of our cash conversion cycle as well as timing of payments for taxes. Our cash conversion cycle measures how quickly we can convert our products into
cash through sales. The cash conversion cycles were as follows:
Three Months Ended
April 3,
2020

March 29,
2019
(in days)

Days sales outstanding

43

30

Days in inventory

89

101

(63)

(55)

69

76

Days payables outstanding
Cash conversion cycle

Changes in days sales outstanding (“DSO”) are generally due to the linearity of shipments. Changes in days in inventory (“DIO”) are generally related
to the timing of inventory builds. Changes in days payables outstanding (“DPO”) are generally related to production volume and the timing of purchases
during the period. From time to time, we modify the timing of payments to our vendors. We make modifications primarily to manage our vendor
relationships and to manage our cash flows, including our cash balances. Generally, we make the payment term modifications through negotiations with our
vendors or by granting to, or receiving from, our vendors’ payment term accommodations.
For the three months ended April 3, 2020, DSO increased by 13 days over the prior year, primarily reflecting lower factoring of receivables and the
timing of shipments and customer collections. We have seen no significant deterioration in our receivables as a result of COVID-19. DIO decreased by 12
days over the prior year, reflecting higher stocking levels of HDD inventory in the prior year in response to the plant closure in Kuala Lumpur. DPO
increased by 8 days over the prior year, primarily reflecting resumptions of normal flash production volumes as well as routine variations in the timing of
purchases and payments during the period.
Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended April 3, 2020 primarily consisted of a $627 million net decrease in notes receivable
issuances to Flash Ventures, partially offset by $432 million of capital expenditures and $22 million for acquisitions. Net cash used in investing activities
for the nine months ended March 29, 2019 primarily consisted of $722 million of capital expenditures and a net $288 million increase in notes receivable
issuances to Flash Ventures to fund its capital expansion.
Our cash equivalents are primarily invested in money market funds that invest in U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Government agency securities. In
addition, from time to time, we invest directly in U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. and international government agency securities, certificates of deposit, asset
backed securities and corporate and municipal notes and bonds.
Financing Activities
During the nine months ended April 3, 2020, net cash used in financing activities primarily consisted of $919 million for repayment of debt,
$445 million to pay dividends on our common stock and $69 million for taxes paid on vested stock awards under employee stock plans, partially offset by
$79 million of proceeds from the issuance of stock under our employee stock plans. Net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended
March 29, 2019 primarily consisted of $613 million for the repayment of our revolving credit facility and other debt, $563 million for share repurchases,
$438 million to pay dividends on our common stock and $109 million for taxes paid on vested stock awards under employee stock plans, partially offset by
$66 million of proceeds from the issuance of stock under our employee stock plans. We are suspending our dividend to reinvest in the business and to
support our ongoing deleveraging efforts. We will reevaluate our dividend policy as our leverage ratio improves.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Other than the commitments related to Flash Ventures, facility lease commitments incurred in the normal course of business and certain
indemnification provisions (see “Short and Long-term Liquidity-Contractual Obligations and Commitments” below), we do not have any other material
off-balance sheet financing arrangements or liabilities, guarantee contracts, retained or contingent interests in transferred assets, or any other obligation
arising out of a material variable interest in an unconsolidated entity. We do not have any majority-owned subsidiaries that are not included in the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, with the exception of Flash Ventures and our joint venture with Unisplendour Corporation
Limited and Unissoft (Wuxi) Group Co. Ltd. (“Unis”), referred to as the “Unis Venture”, we do not have an interest in, or relationships with, any variable
interest entities. For additional information regarding our off-balance sheet arrangements, see Part I, Item 1, Note 9, Related Parties and Related
Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Short and Long-term Liquidity
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following is a summary of our known contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments as of April 3, 2020:
Remaining three
months of 2020

Total

2021-2022

2023-2024

Beyond 2024

(in millions)

Long-term debt, including current portion(1)

$

Interest on debt
Flash Ventures related commitments(2)
Operating leases
Purchase obligations and other commitments
Mandatory Deemed Repatriation Tax
Total

(1)
(2)

9,774

$

$

537

$

6,874

$

2,300

50

644

383

219

5,977

991

3,505

1,239

242

309

12

73

54

170

3,309

1,146

994

831

338

1,039
$

63

1,296

21,704

—
$

2,262

198
$

5,951

285
$

9,666

556
$

3,825

Principal portion of debt, excluding discounts and issuance costs.
Includes reimbursement for depreciation and lease payments on owned and committed equipment, funding commitments for loans and equity
investments and payments for other committed expenses, including R&D and building depreciation. Funding commitments assume no additional
operating lease guarantees. Additional operating lease guarantees can reduce funding commitments.
Debt

In addition to our existing debt, we have $2.25 billion available under our revolving credit facility, subject to customary conditions under the credit
agreement. Additional information regarding our indebtedness, including information about availability under our revolving credit facility and the principal
repayment terms, interest rates, covenants and other key terms of our outstanding indebtedness, is included in Part I, Item 1, Note 7, Debt, of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in Part II, Item 8, Note 6, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 28, 2019. The credit agreement governing our revolving
credit facility and Term Loan A-1 requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, consisting of a leverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. As of
April 3, 2020, we were in compliance with these financial covenants.
Flash Ventures
Flash Ventures sells to and leases back from a consortium of financial institutions a portion of its tools and has entered into equipment lease
agreements of which we guarantee half or all of the outstanding obligations under each lease agreement. The leases are subject to customary covenants and
cancellation events that relate to Flash Ventures and each of the guarantors. The occurrence of a cancellation event could result in an acceleration of the
lease obligations and a call on our guarantees. As of April 3, 2020, we were in compliance with all covenants under these Japanese lease facilities. See
Part I, Item 1, Note 9, Related Parties and Related Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for information regarding Flash Ventures.
Purchase Obligations and Other Commitments
In the normal course of business, we enter into purchase orders with suppliers for the purchase of components used to manufacture our products. These
purchase orders generally cover forecasted component supplies needed for production during the next quarter, are recorded as a liability upon receipt of the
components, and generally may be changed or canceled at any time prior to shipment of the components. We also enter into long-term agreements with
suppliers that contain fixed future commitments, which are contingent on certain conditions such as performance, quality and technology of the vendor’s
components. These arrangements are included under “Purchase obligations and other commitments” in the table above.
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Mandatory Deemed Repatriation Tax
The following is a summary of our estimated mandatory deemed repatriation tax obligations that are payable in the following fiscal years (in millions):
April 3,
2020

Remaining three months of 2020

$

—

2021

99

2022

99

2023

99

2024

186

2025

247

2026

309
$

Total

1,039

For additional information regarding our estimate of the total tax liability for the mandatory deemed repatriation tax, see Part II, Item 8, Note 13,
Income Tax Expense, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 28,
2019.
Unrecognized Tax Benefits
As of April 3, 2020, the liability for unrecognized tax benefits (excluding accrued interest and penalties) was approximately $710 million. Accrued
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as of April 3, 2020 was approximately $136 million. Of these amounts, approximately $716
million could result in potential cash payments. We are not able to provide a reasonable estimate of the timing of future tax payments related to these
obligations.
Interest Rate Swap
We have generally held a balance of fixed and variable rate debt. At April 3, 2020, we had $6.34 billion of variable rate debt, comprising 65% of the
par value of our debt. To balance the portfolio and moderate our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates underlying our variable debt, we entered into payfixed interest rate swaps on $2.00 billion notional amount, which effectively converts a portion of our term loan to fixed rates through February 2023. After
giving effect to the $2.00 billion of interest rate swaps, we effectively had $4.34 billion of Long-term debt subject to variations in interest rates and a one
percent increase in the variable rate of interest would increase annual expense by $43 million.
Foreign Exchange Contracts
We purchase foreign exchange contracts to hedge the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on certain underlying assets, liabilities and commitments
for Operating expenses and product costs denominated in foreign currencies. For a description of our current foreign exchange contract commitments, see
Part I, Item 1, Note 6, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Indemnifications
In the ordinary course of business, we may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, business partners and
other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of our breach of agreements, products or services to be provided
by us, environmental compliance or from IP infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with
our directors and certain of our officers that will require us, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of
their status or service as directors or officers. We maintain director and officer insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from our obligation to
indemnify our directors and officers in certain circumstances.
It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the limited history of prior
indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Such indemnification agreements may not be subject
to maximum loss clauses. Historically, we have not incurred material costs as a result of obligations under these agreements.
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Stock Repurchase Program
Our Board of Directors has authorized a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $5.0 billion of our common stock, which authorization is
effective through July 25, 2023. For the nine months ended April 3, 2020, we did not make any stock repurchases. The remaining amount available to be
repurchased under our current stock repurchase program as of April 3, 2020 was $4.5 billion. Repurchases under the stock repurchase program may be
made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and may be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan.
Cash Dividend
Since the first quarter of 2013, we have issued a quarterly cash dividend. During the nine months ended April 3, 2020, we declared aggregate cash
dividends of $1.50 per share on our outstanding common stock totaling $448 million, of which $150 million was paid on April 17, 2020. We are
suspending our dividend to reinvest in the business and to support our ongoing deleveraging efforts. We will reevaluate our dividend policy as our leverage
ratio improves.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a description of recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements, including the respective dates of adoption and expected effects on our
results of operations and financial condition, see Part I, Item 1, Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We have prepared the accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of judgments and estimates that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity. We have adopted accounting policies and practices that are generally accepted in
the industry in which we operate. If these estimates differ significantly from actual results, the impact to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
may be material.
See Part I, Item 1, Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of a recently adopted accounting pronouncement that affects our accounting for lease obligations. There
have been no other material changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the
fiscal year ended June 28, 2019. Please refer to Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the fiscal year ended June 28, 2019 for a discussion
of our critical accounting policies and estimates.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes to our market risk during the nine months ended April 3, 2020. For a discussion of our exposure to market risk,
see Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 28,
2019.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recently completed fiscal quarter that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
We are implementing an enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system on a worldwide basis, which is expected to improve the efficiency of certain
financial and related transactional processes. The gradual implementation is expected to occur in phases over the next several years. We have completed the
implementation of certain processes, including the financial consolidation and reporting, fixed assets, supplier management and indirect procure-to-pay
processes, and have revised and updated the related controls. These changes did not materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. As we
implement the remaining functionality under this ERP system over the next several years, we will continue to assess the impact on our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our business, financial condition and operating results can be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, whether currently known or unknown,
any one or more of which could, directly or indirectly, cause our actual results of operations and financial condition to vary materially from past, or from
anticipated future, results of operations and financial condition. The risks and uncertainties discussed below are not the only ones facing our business, but
represent risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or the market price of our common stock.
The recent COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to control its spread have impacted and will continue to impact our workforce and operations, and those of our
strategic partners, customers, suppliers and logistics providers. These impacts have included and may include under-absorbed overhead, increased logistics
and other costs and decreased product output. While our manufacturing facilities and those used by Flash Ventures are all currently operational, in some
cases with exemptions from government restrictions, this is subject to change based on evolving conditions related to the pandemic.
The effects of the pandemic are uncertain and difficult to predict, but may include:

•

Further disruptions to our supply chain, our operations or those of our strategic partners, customers or suppliers caused by employees or others
contracting COVID-19, or governmental orders to contain the spread of COVID-19 such as travel restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place orders,
trade controls, and business shutdowns;

•

A global economic downturn or a recession causing a decrease in short- or long-term demand for our products, resulting in industry oversupply
and decreases of average selling prices (“ASPs”), which would impact our profitability;

•

Deterioration of worldwide credit markets that may limit our ability or increase our cost to obtain external financing to fund our operations and
capital expenditures and result in a higher rate of losses on our accounts receivables due to customer credit defaults;

•

Extreme volatility in financial markets which has and may continue to adversely impact our stock price and our ability to access the financial
markets on acceptable terms;

•

Increased data security and technology risk as many employees transition to work from home arrangements, including possible outages to systems
and technologies critical to remote work and increased data privacy risk with cybercriminals attempting to take advantage of the disruption; and

•

Management’s ongoing commitment of significant time, attention and resources to respond to the pandemic.

The degree to which the pandemic ultimately impacts our business and results of operations will depend on future developments beyond our control
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time, including the severity and duration of the pandemic, the extent of actions to contain or treat
COVID-19, the effectiveness of government stimulus programs, any possible resurgence of COVID-19 that may occur after the initial outbreak subsides,
how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating activity can resume, and the severity and duration of the global economic downturn that
results from the pandemic. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in more detail in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to adverse global or regional conditions,
our highly competitive industry, supply chain disruption, demand conditions and our ability to forecast demand, cost saving initiatives, our indebtedness
and liquidity, and cyber attacks.
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Adverse global or regional conditions could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
A large portion of our revenue is derived from our international operations, and many of our products and components are produced overseas. As a
result, our business, results of operations and financial condition depend significantly on global and regional conditions. Adverse changes in global or
regional economic conditions, including, but not limited to, volatility in the financial markets, tighter credit, slower growth in certain geographic regions,
political uncertainty, other macroeconomic factors, and changes to social conditions, policies, rules and regulations, could significantly harm demand for
our products, increase credit and collectability risks, result in revenue reductions, cause us to change our business practices, increase manufacturing and
operating costs or result in impairment charges or other expenses.
Our revenue and future growth are significantly dependent on the growth of international markets, and we may face difficulties in entering or
maintaining international sales markets. We are subject to risks associated with our global manufacturing operations and global marketing and sales efforts,
as well as risks associated with our utilization of and reliance on contract manufacturers, including:
•

obtaining requisite governmental permits and approvals, compliance with foreign laws and regulations and changes in foreign laws and
regulations;

•

the need to comply with regulations on international business, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010,
the anti-bribery laws of other countries and rules regarding conflict minerals;

•

copyright levies or similar fees or taxes imposed in European and other countries;

•

exchange, currency and tax controls and reallocations;

•

weaker protection of IP rights;

•

trade restrictions, such as export controls, export bans, embargoes, sanctions, license and certification requirements (including semiconductor,
encryption and other technology), new or increased tariffs and fees and complex customs regulations; and

•

difficulties in managing international operations, including appropriate internal controls.

As a result of these risks, our business, results of operations or financial condition could be adversely affected.
We rely substantially on our business ventures with Kioxia for the development and supply of flash-based memory, which subjects us to risks and
uncertainties that could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
We depend on our ventures with Kioxia to develop and manufacture our flash-based memory. We partner with Kioxia on the development of flashbased technology, including future generations of 3D NAND, as well as other non-volatile memory technology in support of Flash Ventures. Flash Ventures
is subject to various risks that could harm the value of our investments, our revenue and costs, our future rate of spending, our technology plans and our
future growth opportunities.
Substantially all of our flash-based memory is supplied by Flash Ventures, which limits our ability to respond to market demand and supply changes. A
failure to accurately forecast demand could cause us to over-invest or under-invest in technology transitions or the expansion of Flash Ventures’ capacity.
Over-investment by us or our competitors could result in excess supply, which could cause significant decreases in our product prices, significant excess,
obsolete inventory or inventory write-downs or under-utilization charges, and the potential impairment of our investments in Flash Ventures. On the other
hand, if we under-invest in Flash Ventures or otherwise grow or transition Flash Ventures’ capacity more slowly than we expect or than the rest of the
industry, we may not have enough supply of the right type of memory or at all to meet demand on a timely and cost effective basis and we may lose
opportunities for revenue, gross margin and market share as a result. If our supply is limited, we may make strategic decisions with respect to the allocation
of our supply among our products and customers, and these strategic allocation decisions may result in less favorable gross margin or damage certain
customer relationships. We are contractually obligated to pay for 50% of the fixed costs of Flash Ventures regardless of whether we purchase any wafers
from Flash Ventures. Furthermore, purchase orders placed with Flash Ventures and under the foundry arrangements with Kioxia for up to three months are
binding and cannot be canceled. Therefore, once our purchase decisions have been made, our production costs for flash memory are fixed, and we may be
unable to reduce costs to match any subsequent declines in pricing or demand, which would harm our gross margin. Our limited ability to react to
fluctuations in flash memory supply and demand makes our financial results particularly susceptible to variations from our forecasts and expectations.
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Under the Flash Ventures agreements, we have limited power to unilaterally direct most of the activities that most significantly impact Flash Ventures’
performance and we have limited ability to source or fabricate flash-based memory outside of Flash Ventures. Lack of alignment with Kioxia with respect
to Flash Ventures could adversely impact our ability to stay at the forefront of technological advancement and our investment in Flash Ventures and
otherwise harm our business. Misalignment could arise due to changes in Kioxia’s strategic priorities, management and/or ownership, which has changed
significantly recently and could continue to change. Kioxia’s stakeholders may include, or have included in the past, flash and HDD competitors,
customers, a private equity firm and a bank owned by the Government of Japan. Kioxia’s management changes, ownership and capital structure could lead
to delays in decision-making, disputes, or changes in strategic direction that could adversely impact Flash Ventures and/or adversely affect our business
prospects, results of operations and financial condition. There may exist conflicts of interest between Kioxia’s stakeholders and Flash Ventures or us with
respect to, among other things, protecting and growing Flash Ventures’ business, IP and competitively sensitive confidential information.
Flash Ventures requires significant investments by both Kioxia and us for technology transitions, including the transition to 3D NAND, and capacity
expansions. In May 2019, Kioxia’s parent company, Kioxia Holdings Corporation (“KHC”), announced new financing in the amount of 1.2 trillion
Japanese yen. KHC’s financing agreements and/or its high level of debt could limit Kioxia’s ability to timely fund or finance investments in Flash Ventures
or our joint development efforts, as well as limit Flash Ventures’ ability to enter into lease financings. Availability of lease financings for Flash Ventures
could also be limited by our and/or Kioxia’s financial performance. To the extent that lease financings for Flash Ventures are not accessible on favorable
terms or at all, more cash would be required to fund investments. If Kioxia does not or we do not provide sufficient resources, or have adequate access to
credit, to timely fund investments in Flash Ventures, our investments could be delayed or reduced. Delayed or reduced investment in manufacturing
capacity or R&D could harm Flash Ventures’ competitiveness and/or our investment in Flash Ventures. In addition, KHC’s financing arrangements might
be secured by Kioxia’s equity interests in Flash Ventures, permitting the lenders to foreclose on those equity interests under certain circumstances.
In May 2019, we entered into definitive agreements with Kioxia regarding a new 3D NAND wafer fabrication facility in Kitakami, Iwate, Japan,
known as “K1.” Under the K1 agreement, we agreed to, among other things, fund 50% of K1’s initial production line. Output from the initial production
line, which began in the third quarter of fiscal year 2020, could be delayed, reduced or otherwise fail to meet our expectations. As K1 is located at a new
manufacturing site, K1 could be particularly susceptible to delays and other challenges in the production ramp and yields, qualification of wafers, shipment
of samples to customers and customer approval process. Further, although we intend to continue to jointly invest with Kioxia to ramp up manufacturing
capacity at K1, there is no certainty as to when, and on what terms, we will do so. If and for so long as our share of the K1 capacity falls below a specified
threshold, we will be responsible for bearing fixed costs associated with K1’s operations at that threshold, which could adversely affect our financial
results.
We participate in a highly competitive industry that is subject to declining average selling prices (“ASPs”), volatile demand, rapid technological
change and industry consolidation, all of which could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
Demand for our devices, software and solutions that we offer to our customers, which we refer to in this Item 1A as our “products”, depends in large
part on the demand for systems (including personal computers and mobile devices) manufactured by our customers and on storage upgrades to existing
systems. The demand for systems has been volatile in the past and often has had an exaggerated effect on the demand for our products in any given period.
The prices of our products are influenced by, among other factors, the balance between supply and demand in the storage market, including the effects of
new fab capacity, macroeconomic factors, business conditions, technology transitions and other actions taken by us or our competitors. The storage market
has experienced volatile product life cycles, which can adversely affect our ability to recover the cost of product development, and periods of excess
capacity, which can lead to liquidation of excess inventories, significant reductions in ASPs and adverse impacts on our revenue and gross margins.
Further, our ASPs and gross margins tend to decline when there is a shift in the mix of product sales, and sales of lower priced products increase
relative to those of higher priced products. Further, we face potential gross margin pressures resulting from our ASPs declining more rapidly than our cost
of revenue. Rapid technological changes often reduce the volume and profitability of sales of existing products and increase the risk of inventory
obsolescence. Finally, the data storage industry has experienced consolidation over the past several years. Further consolidation across the industry could
enhance the capacity, abilities and resources and lower the cost structure of some of our competitors, causing us to be at a competitive disadvantage. These
factors may result in significant shifts in market share among the industry’s major participants, including a substantial decrease in our market share, all of
which could adversely impact our operating results and financial condition.
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In addition, we compete based on our ability to offer our customers competitive solutions that provide the most current and desired products and
service features. As we compete in new product areas, the overall complexity of our business may increase at an accelerated rate and may result in
increases in R&D expenses and substantial investments in manufacturing capability, technology enhancements and go-to-market capability. We must also
qualify our products with customers through potentially lengthy testing processes, which may result in delayed, reduced or lost product sales. Some of our
competitors offer products and technologies that we do not offer and may be able to use their broader product and technology portfolio to win sales from
us, and some of our customers may be developing storage solutions internally, which may reduce their demand for our products. We expect that
competition will continue to be intense, and there is a risk that our competitors may be able to gain a product offering or cost structure advantage over us,
which may result in a loss of business to us. Further, some of our competitors may utilize certain pricing strategies, including offering products at prices at
or below cost, that we may be unable to competitively match. We may also have difficulty effectively competing with manufacturers benefitting from
governmental investments.
If we do not properly manage technology transitions and product development and introduction, our competitiveness and operating results may be
negatively affected.
The storage markets in which we offer our products continuously undergo technology transitions that we must anticipate and adapt our existing
products or develop new products to address in a timely manner. If we fail to implement new technologies successfully, if we are slower than our
competitors at implementing new technologies, or if our technology transitions or product development are more costly to complete than anticipated, we
may not be able to offer products our customers desire and our costs may not remain competitive, which would harm revenues, our gross margin and
operating results.
In addition, the success of our technology transitions and product development and introduction depends on a number of other factors, including:
•

R&D expenses and results;

•

difficulties faced in manufacturing ramp;

•

market acceptance/qualification;

•

effective management of inventory levels in line with anticipated product demand;

•

the vertical integration of some of our products, which may result in more capital expenditures and greater fixed costs than if we were not
vertically integrated;

•

our ability to cost effectively respond to customer requests for new products or features and software associated with our products;

•

our ability to increase our software development capability; and

•

the effectiveness of our go-to-market capability in selling new products.

Moving to new technologies and products may require us to align to, and build, a new supply base. Our success in new product areas may be
dependent in part on our ability to develop close relationships with new suppliers and on our ability to enter into favorable supply agreements. Where this
cannot be done, our business and operations may be adversely affected. In addition, if our customers choose to delay transition to new technologies, if
demand for the products that we develop is lower than expected or if the supporting technologies to implement these new technologies are not available, we
may be unable to achieve the cost structure required to support our profit objectives or may be unable to grow or maintain our market position.
Additionally, new technologies and products could substitute for or replace our current technologies and products and make them obsolete. We also
develop products to meet certain industry and technical standards, which may change. We could incur substantial costs as a result of shifts in technology
and standards, such as adopting new standards or investing in different capital equipment or manufacturing processes to remain competitive.
For additional technology transition risks related to Flash Ventures, see the risk factor entitled “We rely substantially on our business ventures with
Kioxia for the development and supply of flash-based memory, which subjects us to risks and uncertainties that could harm our business, financial
condition and operating results.”
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Our strategic relationships subject us to risks that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have entered into strategic relationships with various partners for future product development, sales growth and the supply of technologies,
components, equipment and materials for use in our product design and manufacturing, including our partnership with Kioxia for flash-based memory
development and manufacturing. These strategic relationships are subject to various risks that could adversely affect the value of our investments and our
results of operations and financial condition. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

our interests could diverge from our partners’ interests or we may not agree with co-venturers on ongoing activities, technology transitions or on
the amount, timing or nature of further investments in the relationship;

•

we may experience difficulties and delays in product and technology development at, ramping production at, and transferring technology to, our
business ventures;

•

our control over the operations of our business ventures is limited;

•

due to financial constraints, our co-venturers may be unable to meet their commitments to us or may pose credit risks for our transactions with
them;

•

due to differing business models, financial constraints or long-term business goals, our partners may decide not to join us in funding capital
investment by our business ventures, which may result in higher levels of cash expenditures by us or prevent us from proceeding in the
investment;

•

we may lose the rights to technology or products being developed by the strategic relationship, including if any of our co-venturers is acquired by
another company or otherwise transfers its interest in the business venture, files for bankruptcy or experiences financial or other losses;

•

a bankruptcy event involving a co-venturer could result in the early termination or adverse modification of the business venture or agreements
governing the business venture;

•

we may experience difficulties or delays in collecting amounts due to us from our co-venturers;

•

the terms of our arrangements may turn out to be unfavorable; and

•

changes in tax, legal or regulatory requirements may necessitate changes in the agreements with our co-venturers.

If our strategic relationships are unsuccessful or there are unanticipated changes in, or termination of, our strategic relationships, our business, results
of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
We are dependent on a limited number of qualified suppliers who provide critical materials or components, and a disruption in our supply chain,
including a shortage in supply or a supplier’s failure to support us in a timely manner with goods or services at a quality level and cost acceptable to us,
or supplier consolidation, could adversely affect our margins, revenues and operating results.
We depend on an external supply base for technologies, software (including firmware), preamps, controllers, DRAM, components, equipment and
materials for use in our product design and manufacturing. We also depend on suppliers for a portion of our wafer testing, chip assembly, product assembly
and product testing, and on service suppliers for providing technical support for our products. In addition, we use logistics partners to manage our just-intime hubs, distribution centers and freight from suppliers to our factories and from our factories to our customers throughout the world. Many of the
components and much of the equipment we acquire must be specifically designed to be compatible for use in our products or for developing and
manufacturing our future products, and are only available from a limited number of suppliers, some of whom are our sole-source suppliers. We are
therefore dependent on these suppliers to be able and willing to meet our business needs including dedicating adequate engineering resources to develop
components that can be successfully integrated into our products, technology and equipment.
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Our suppliers have in the past been, and may in the future be, unable or unwilling to meet our requirements. If we are unable to purchase sufficient
quantities from our current suppliers or qualify and engage additional suppliers, or if we cannot purchase materials at a reasonable price, we may not be
able to meet demand for our products. Trade restrictions, including tariffs, quotas and embargoes, demand from other high volume industries for materials
or components used in our products, disruptions in supplier relationships or shortages in other components and materials used in our customers’ products
could result in increased costs to us or decreased demand for our products, which could negatively impact our operating results. Delays or cost increases
experienced by our suppliers in developing or sourcing materials and components for use in our products or incompatibility or quality issues relating to our
products, could also harm our financial results as well as business relationships with our customers.
We do not have long-term contracts with some of our existing suppliers, nor do we always have guaranteed manufacturing capacity with our suppliers
and, therefore, we cannot guarantee that they will devote sufficient resources or capacity to manufacturing our products. Any significant problems that
occur at our suppliers, or their failure to perform at the level we expect, could lead to product shortages or quality assurance problems, either of which
would harm our operating results and financial condition. When we do have contractual commitments with component suppliers in an effort to increase and
stabilize the supply of those components, those commitments may require us to buy a substantial number of components from the supplier or make
significant cash advances to the supplier; however, these commitments may not result in a satisfactory increase or stabilization of the supply of such
components and may cause us to have inadequate or excess component inventory, which could increase our operating costs and adversely affect our
operating results.
In addition, our supply base has experienced industry consolidation. Our suppliers may be acquired by our competitors, consolidate, decide to exit the
industry, or redirect their investments and increase costs to us, each of which may have an adverse effect on our business and operations. In addition, some
of our suppliers have experienced a decline in financial performance. Where we rely on a limited number of suppliers or a single supplier, the risk of
supplier loss due to industry consolidation or a decline in financial performance is enhanced. Some of our suppliers may also be competitors in other areas
of our business, which could lead to difficulties in price negotiations or meeting our supply requirements. Any disruption in our supply chain could reduce
our revenue and adversely impact our financial results.
Our operations, and those of certain of our suppliers and customers, are concentrated in large, purpose-built facilities, subjecting us to substantial
risk of damage or loss if operations at any of these facilities are disrupted.
As a result of our cost structure and strategy of vertical integration, we conduct our operations at large, high volume, purpose-built facilities in
California and throughout Asia. The facilities of many of our customers, our suppliers and our customers’ suppliers are also concentrated in certain
geographic locations throughout Asia and elsewhere. A fire, flood, earthquake, tsunami or other natural disaster, condition or event such as a power outage,
terrorist attack, political instability, civil unrest, localized labor unrest or other employment issues, or a health epidemic that adversely affects any of these
facilities, the employees, the technology infrastructure or logistics operators at these facilities, would significantly affect our ability to manufacture or sell
our products and source components, which would result in a substantial loss of sales and revenue and a substantial harm to our operating results. In
addition, the geographic concentration of our manufacturing sites could exacerbate the negative impacts resulting from any of these problems. A significant
event that impacts any of our manufacturing sites, or the sites of our customers or suppliers, could adversely affect our ability to manufacture or sell our
products, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.
We may incur losses beyond the limits of, or outside the scope of, the coverage of our insurance policies. There can be no assurance that in the future
we will be able to maintain existing insurance coverage or that premiums will not increase substantially. Due to market availability, pricing or other
reasons, we may elect not to purchase insurance coverage or to purchase only limited coverage. We maintain limited insurance coverage and, in some
cases, no coverage at all, for natural disasters and environmental damages, as these types of insurance are sometimes not available or available only at a
prohibitive cost. We depend upon Kioxia to obtain and maintain sufficient property, business interruption and other insurance for Flash Ventures. If Kioxia
fails to do so, we could suffer significant unreimbursable losses, and such failure could also cause Flash Ventures to breach various financing covenants.
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We experience sales seasonality and cyclicality, which could cause our operating results to fluctuate. In addition, accurately forecasting demand has
become more difficult, which could adversely affect our business and financial results or operating efficiencies.
Sales of computer systems, mobile devices, storage subsystems, gaming consoles and consumer electronics tend to be seasonal and subject to supplydemand cycles, and therefore we expect to continue to experience seasonality and cyclicality in our business as we respond to variations in supply
dynamics and customer demand. Changes in seasonal and cyclical supply and demand patterns have made it, and could continue to make it, more difficult
for us to forecast demand, especially as a result of the current macroeconomic environment. Changes in the product or channel mix of our business can also
impact seasonal and cyclical patterns, adding complexity in forecasting demand. Seasonality and cyclicality also may lead to higher volatility in our stock
price. It is difficult for us to evaluate the degree to which seasonality and cyclicality may affect our stock price or business in future periods because of the
rate and unpredictability of product transitions, actions by competitors, new product introductions and macroeconomic conditions.
The variety and volume of products we manufacture are based in part on accurately forecasting market and customer demand for our products.
Accurately forecasting demand has also become increasingly difficult for us, our customers and our suppliers due to volatility in global economic
conditions and industry consolidation, resulting in less availability of historical market data for certain product segments. Further, for many of our original
equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) customers utilizing just-in-time inventory, we do not generally require firm order commitments and instead receive a
periodic forecast of requirements, which may prove to be inaccurate. In addition, because our products are designed to be largely interchangeable with
competitors’ products, our demand forecasts may be impacted significantly by the strategic actions of our competitors. As forecasting demand becomes
more difficult, the risk that our forecasts are not in line with demand increases. If our forecasts exceed actual market demand, we could experience periods
of product oversupply, excess inventory, and price decreases, which could impact our sales, ASPs and gross margin, thereby adversely affecting our
operating results and our financial condition. If market demand increases significantly beyond our forecasts or beyond our ability to add manufacturing
capacity, then we may not be able to satisfy customer product needs, possibly resulting in a loss of market share if our competitors are able to meet
customer demands. In addition, some of our components have long lead-times, requiring us to place orders several months in advance of anticipated
demand. Such long lead-times increase the risk of excess inventory or loss of sales in the event our forecasts vary substantially from actual demand.
The loss of our key management, staff and skilled employees, the inability to hire and integrate new employees or decisions to realign our business
could negatively impact our business prospects.
Our success depends upon the continued contributions of our key management, staff and skilled employees, many of whom would be extremely
difficult to replace. Changes in our key management team can result in loss of continuity, loss of accumulated knowledge, departure of other key
employees, disruptions to our operations and inefficiency during transitional periods. Global competition for skilled employees in the technology related
industry is intense, and our business success becomes increasingly dependent on our ability to retain our key staff and skilled employees, to implement
succession plans for our key management and staff, to attract, integrate and retain new skilled employees, including employees from acquisitions, and to
make decisions to realign our business to take advantage of efficiencies or reduce redundancies. Additionally, because a substantial portion of our key
employees’ compensation is placed “at risk” and linked to the performance of our business, including through equity compensation, when our operating
results are negatively impacted, we may be at a competitive disadvantage for retaining and hiring key management, staff and skilled employees versus
other companies that may pay a relatively higher portion of base compensation. If we are unable to hire and retain key management, staff or skilled
employees, our operating results would likely be harmed.
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If we fail to identify, manage, complete and integrate acquisitions, investment opportunities or other significant transactions, which are a key part of
our growth strategy, it may adversely affect our future results.
We seek to be an industry-leading developer, manufacturer and provider of innovative storage solutions, balancing our core hard drive and flash
memory business with growing investments in newer areas that we believe will provide us with higher growth opportunities. Acquisitions of, investment
opportunities in, or other significant transactions with companies that are complementary to our business are a key part of our overall business strategy. In
order to pursue this part of our growth strategy successfully, we must continue to identify attractive acquisition or investment opportunities, successfully
complete the transactions, some of which may be large and complex, and manage post-closing issues such as integration of the acquired company or
employees. We may not be able to continue to identify or complete appealing acquisition or investment opportunities given the intense competition for
these transactions. Even if we identify and complete suitable corporate transactions, we may not be able to successfully address any integration challenges
in a timely manner, or at all. There may be difficulties with implementing new systems and processes or with integrating systems and processes of
companies with complex operations, which could result in inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies and may increase the risk that our
internal controls are found to be ineffective. Failing to successfully integrate or realign our business to take advantage of efficiencies or reduce
redundancies of an acquisition may result in not realizing all or any of the anticipated benefits of the acquisition. In addition, failing to achieve the financial
model projections for an acquisition or changes in technology development and related roadmaps following an acquisition may result in the incurrence of
impairment charges and other expenses, both of which could adversely impact our results of operations or financial condition. Acquisitions and investments
may also result in the issuance of equity securities that may be dilutive to our shareholders and the issuance of additional indebtedness that would put
additional pressure on liquidity. Furthermore, we may agree to provide continuing service obligations or enter into other agreements in order to obtain
certain regulatory approvals of our corporate transactions, and failure to satisfy these additional obligations could result in our failing to obtain regulatory
approvals or the imposition of additional obligations on us, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, new legislation or additional regulations may affect or impair our ability to invest with or in certain other countries or require us to obtain
regulatory approvals to do so, including investments in joint ventures, minority investments and outbound technology transfers to certain countries.
Any cost saving initiatives, restructurings or divestitures that we undertake may result in disruptions to our operations and may not deliver the results
we expect, which may adversely affect our business.
From time to time, we engage in cost saving initiatives, restructurings and divestitures that may result in workforce reduction and consolidation of our
manufacturing or other facilities. As a result of these actions, we may experience a loss of continuity, loss of accumulated knowledge, disruptions to our
operations and inefficiency during transitional periods. These actions could also impact employee retention. In addition, we cannot be sure that these
actions will be as successful in reducing our overall expenses as we expect, that additional costs will not offset any such reductions or consolidations or that
we do not forego future business opportunities as a result of these actions. If our operating costs are higher than we expect or if we do not maintain
adequate control of our costs and expenses, our operating results could be adversely affected.
Our high level of debt may adversely impact our liquidity, restrict our operations and ability to respond to business opportunities, and increase our
vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions.
As of April 3, 2020, our total indebtedness was $9.77 billion in aggregate principal, and we had $2.25 billion of additional borrowing availability
under our revolving credit facility, subject to customary conditions under the credit agreement.
Our high level of debt could have significant consequences, which include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general corporate purposes;

•

requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other purposes;

•

imposing financial and other restrictive covenants on our operations, including limiting our ability to (i) declare or pay dividends or repurchase
shares of our common stock; (ii) purchase assets, make investments, complete acquisitions, consolidate or merge with or into, or sell all or
substantially all of our assets to, another person; (iii) dispose of assets; (iv) incur liens; and (v) enter into transactions with affiliates; and

•

making us more vulnerable to economic downturns and limiting our ability to withstand competitive pressures or take advantage of new
opportunities to grow our business.
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Our ability to meet our debt service obligations, comply with our debt covenants and deleverage depends on our cash flows and financial performance,
which are affected by financial, business, economic and other factors. The rate at which we will be able to or choose to deleverage is uncertain. Failure to
meet our debt service obligations or comply with our debt covenants could result in an event of default under the applicable indebtedness. We may be
unable to cure, or obtain a waiver of, an event of default or otherwise amend our debt agreements to prevent an event of default thereunder on terms
acceptable to us or at all. In that event, the debt holders could accelerate the related debt, which may result in the cross-acceleration or cross-default of
other debt, leases or other obligations. We may not have sufficient funds available to repay accelerated indebtedness, and we may be required to refinance
all or part of our debt, sell important strategic assets at unfavorable prices, incur additional indebtedness or issue common stock or other equity securities,
which we may be unable to do on terms acceptable to us, in amounts sufficient to meet our needs or at all. Our inability to service our debt obligations or
refinance our debt could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Further, if we are unable to repay,
refinance or restructure our secured indebtedness, the holder of such debt could proceed against the collateral securing that indebtedness. Refinancing our
indebtedness may also require us to expense previous debt issuance costs or to incur new debt issuance costs.
As our bank debt contains a variable interest rate component based on our corporate credit ratings, a decline in our ratings could result in increased
interest rates and debt service obligations. In addition, our ratings impact the cost and availability of future borrowings and, accordingly, our cost of capital.
Our ratings reflect the opinions of the ratings agencies as to our financial strength, operating performance and ability to meet our debt obligations. There
can be no assurance that we will achieve a particular rating or maintain a particular rating in the future.
Our credit agreement uses LIBOR as a reference rate for our term loans and revolving credit facility, such that the applicable interest rate may, at our
option, be calculated based on LIBOR. In July 2017, the U.K.’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase
out LIBOR by the end of 2021. In April 2018, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York began publishing a Secured Overnight Funding Rate, which is
intended to replace U.S. dollar LIBOR. Plans for alternative reference rates for other currencies have also been announced. At this time, we cannot predict
how markets will respond to these proposed alternative rates or the effect of any changes to LIBOR or the discontinuation of LIBOR. If LIBOR is no
longer available or if our lenders have increased costs due to changes in LIBOR, we may experience potential increases in interest rates on our variable rate
debt, which could adversely impact our interest expense, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, replacing LIBOR with an alternative reference
rate for any of our debt could be a taxable event.
We may from time to time seek to further refinance our substantial indebtedness by issuing additional shares of common stock, which may dilute our
existing shareholders, reduce the value of our common stock, or both.
Tax matters may materially affect our financial position and results of operations.
Changes in tax laws in the United States, the European Union and around the globe have impacted and will continue to impact our effective worldwide
tax rate, which may materially affect our financial position and results of operations. Further, organizations such as the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development, have published action plans that, if adopted by countries where we do business, could increase our tax obligations in these
countries. Due to the large scale of our U.S. and international business activities, many of these enacted and proposed changes to the taxation of our
activities could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of operations. Additionally, portions of our operations
are subject to a reduced tax rate or are free of tax under various tax holidays that expire in whole or in part from time to time, or may be terminated if
certain conditions are not met. Although many of these holidays may be extended when certain conditions are met, we may not be able to meet such
conditions. If the tax holidays are not extended, or if we fail to satisfy the conditions of the reduced tax rate, then our effective tax rate could increase in the
future.
Our determination of our tax liability in the U.S. and other jurisdictions is subject to review by applicable domestic and foreign tax authorities. For
example, as disclosed in Part I, Item 1, Note 12, Income Tax Expense, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we are under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for certain fiscal years and in connection with that
examination, we received statutory notices of deficiency seeking certain adjustments to income and have filed petitions with the U.S. Tax Court. Although
we believe our tax positions are properly supported, the final timing and resolution of any tax examinations are subject to significant uncertainty and could
result in litigation or the payment of significant amounts to the applicable tax authority in order to resolve examination of our tax positions, which could
result in an increase or decrease of our current estimate of unrecognized tax benefits and may negatively impact our financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.
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Sales in the distribution channel and to the retail market are important to our business, and if we fail to respond to demand changes within these
markets, or maintain and grow our applicable market share, our operating results could suffer.
Our distribution customers typically sell to small computer manufacturers, dealers, systems integrators and other resellers. We face significant
competition in this channel as a result of limited product qualification programs and a significant focus on price and availability of product. As a result of
the shift to mobile devices, more computing devices are being delivered to the market as complete systems, which could weaken the distribution market. If
we fail to respond to changes in demand in the distribution market, our operating results could suffer. Additionally, if the distribution market weakens as a
result of technology transitions or a significant change in consumer buying preference, or if we experience significant price declines due to demand
changes in the distribution channel, our operating results would be adversely affected. Negative changes in the credit-worthiness or the ability to access
credit, or the bankruptcy or shutdown of any of our significant retail or distribution partners would harm our revenue and our ability to collect outstanding
receivable balances.
A significant portion of our sales is also made through retailers. Our success in the retail market depends in large part on our ability to maintain our
brand image and corporate reputation and to expand into and gain market acceptance of our products in multiple retail market channels. Particularly in the
retail market, adverse publicity, whether or not justified, or allegations of product or service quality issues, even if false or unfounded, could damage our
reputation and cause our customers to choose products offered by our competitors. Further, changes to the retail environment, such as store closures caused
by macroeconomic conditions or changing customer preferences, may reduce the demand for our products. If customers no longer maintain a preference for
our product brands or if our retailers are not successful in selling our products, our operating results may be adversely affected.
Loss of market share with or by a key customer, or consolidation among our customer base, could harm our operating results.
During the nine months ended April 3, 2020, 44% of our revenue came from sales to our top 10 customers. These customers have a variety of suppliers
to choose from and therefore can make substantial demands on us, including demands on product pricing and on contractual terms, often resulting in the
allocation of risk to us as the supplier. Our ability to maintain strong relationships with our principal customers is essential to our future performance. We
have experienced and may in the future experience events such as the loss of a key customer, prohibition or restriction of sales to a key customer by law,
regulation or other government action, reductions in sales to or orders by a key customer, customer requirements to reduce our prices before we are able to
reduce costs or the acquisition of a key customer by one of our competitors. These events would likely harm our operating results and financial condition.
Additionally, if there is consolidation among our customer base, our customers may be able to command increased leverage in negotiating prices and
other terms of sale, which could adversely affect our profitability. Consolidation among our customer base may also lead to reduced demand for our
products, increased customer pressure on our prices, replacement of our products by the combined entity with those of our competitors and cancellations of
orders, each of which could harm our operating results.
Also, the storage ecosystem is constantly evolving, and our traditional customer base is changing. Fewer companies now hold greater market share for
certain applications and services, such as mobile, social media, shopping and streaming media. As a result, the competitive landscape is changing, giving
these companies increased leverage in negotiating prices and other terms of sale, which could adversely affect our profitability. In addition, the changes in
our evolving customer base create new selling and distribution patterns to which we must adapt. To remain competitive, we must respond to these changes
by ensuring we have proper scale in this evolving market, as well as offer products that meet the technological requirements of this customer base at
competitive pricing points. To the extent we are not successful in adequately responding to these changes, our operating results and financial condition
could be harmed.
Our operating results fluctuate, sometimes significantly, from period to period due to many factors, which may result in a significant decline in our
stock price.
Our quarterly operating results may be subject to significant fluctuations as a result of a number of other factors including:
•

weakness in demand for one or more product categories;

•

the timing of orders from and shipment of products to major customers or loss of major customers;
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•

our product mix;

•

reductions in the ASPs of our products and lower margins;

•

excess output, capacity or inventory, resulting in lower ASPs, financial charges or impairments, or insufficient output, capacity or inventory,
resulting in lost revenue opportunities;

•

inability to successfully implement technology transitions or other technology developments, or other failure to reduce product costs to keep pace
with reduction in ASPs;

•

manufacturing delays or interruptions;

•

delays in design wins or customer qualifications, acceptance by customers of competing products in lieu of our products;

•

variations in the cost of and lead times for components for our products, disruptions of our supply chain;

•

increase in costs due to warranty claims; and

•

higher costs as a result of currency exchange rate fluctuations.

We often ship a high percentage of our total quarterly sales in the third month of the quarter, which makes it difficult for us to forecast our financial
results before the end of the quarter. As a result of the above or other factors, our forecast of operating results for the quarter may differ materially from our
actual financial results. If our results of operations fail to meet the expectations of analysts or investors, it could cause an immediate and significant decline
in our stock price.
If our technology infrastructure, systems or products are compromised, damaged or interrupted by cyber attacks, data security breaches, other
security problems, design defects or sustain system failures, our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.
We experience cyber attacks of varying degrees on our technology infrastructure and systems and, as a result, unauthorized parties have obtained in the
past, and may in the future obtain, access to our computer systems and networks, including cloud-based platforms. The technology infrastructure and
systems of our suppliers, vendors, service providers, cloud solution providers and partners have in the past experienced and may in the future experience
such attacks. Cyber attacks can include computer viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks, worms, and other malicious software programs or other
attacks, covert introduction of malware to computers and networks, impersonation of authorized users, and efforts to discover and exploit any design flaws,
bugs, security vulnerabilities or security weaknesses, as well as intentional or unintentional acts by employees or other insiders with access privileges,
intentional acts of vandalism or fraud by third parties and sabotage. In some instances, efforts to correct vulnerabilities or prevent attacks may reduce the
performance of our computer systems and networks, which could negatively impact our business. We believe cyber attack attempts are increasing in
number and that cyber attackers are developing increasingly sophisticated systems and means to not only attack systems, but also to evade detection or to
obscure their activities.
Our products are also targets for cyber attacks, including those products utilized in cloud-based environments as well as our cloud service offerings.
While some of our products contain encryption or security algorithms to protect third-party content or user-generated data stored on our products, these
products could still be hacked or the encryption schemes could be compromised, breached, or circumvented by motivated and sophisticated attackers.
Further, our products contain sophisticated hardware and operating system software and applications that may contain security problems, security
vulnerabilities, or defects in design or manufacture, including “bugs” and other problems that could interfere with the intended operation of our products.
To the extent our products are hacked or the encryption schemes are compromised or breached, this could harm our business by requiring us to employ
additional resources to fix the errors or defects, exposing us to litigation and indemnification claims and hurting our reputation.
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If efforts to breach our infrastructure, systems or products are successful or we are unable to protect against these risks, we could suffer interruptions,
delays, or cessation of operations of our systems, and loss or misuse of proprietary or confidential information, IP, or sensitive or personal information.
Breaches of our infrastructure, systems or products could also cause our customers and other affected third parties to suffer loss or misuse of proprietary or
confidential information, IP, or sensitive or personal information, and could harm our relationships with customers and other third parties. As a result, we
could experience additional costs, indemnification claims, litigation, and damage to our brand and reputation. All of these consequences could harm our
reputation and our business and materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
We are subject to laws, rules, and regulations relating to the collection, use, sharing, and security of third-party data including personal data, and
our failure to comply with these laws, rules and regulations could subject us to proceedings by governmental entities or others and cause us to incur
penalties, significant legal liability, or loss of customers, loss of revenue, and reputational harm.
We are subject to laws, rules, and regulations relating to the collection, use, and security and privacy of third-party data including data that relates to or
identifies an individual person. In many cases, these laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between us and our
subsidiaries, and among us, our subsidiaries and other parties with which we have commercial relations. Our possession and use of third-party data,
including personal data and employee data in conducting our business, subjects us to legal and regulatory burdens that may require us to notify vendors,
customers or employees or other parties with which we have commercial relations of a data security breach and to respond to regulatory inquiries and to
enforcement proceedings. Laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, and security and privacy of third-party data change over time and new laws
and regulations become effective from time to time. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which became effective January 1,
2020, imposes new obligations on certain companies doing business in California with respect to the personal information of California residents. These
obligations include new notice and privacy policy requirements, as well as new obligations to respond to requests to know and access personal information,
delete personal information and say no to the sale of personal information. Global privacy and data protection legislation, enforcement, and policy activity
in this area are rapidly expanding and evolving, and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Compliance requirements and even our
inadvertent failure to comply with applicable laws may cause us to incur substantial costs, subject us to proceedings by governmental entities or others, and
cause us to incur penalties or other significant legal liability, or lead us to change our business practices.
We are subject to risks related to product defects, which could result in product recalls or epidemic failures and could subject us to warranty claims
in excess of our warranty provisions or which are greater than anticipated, litigation or indemnification claims.
We warrant the majority of our products for periods of one to five years. We test our products in our manufacturing facilities through a variety of
means. However, our testing may fail to reveal defects in our products that may not become apparent until after the products have been sold into the
market. In addition, our products may be used in a manner that is not intended or anticipated by us, resulting in potential liability. Accordingly, there is a
risk that product defects will occur, including as a result of third-party components or applications that we incorporate in our products, which could require
a product recall. Product recalls can be expensive to implement. As part of a product recall, we may be required or choose to replace the defective product.
Moreover, there is a risk that product defects may trigger an epidemic failure clause in a customer agreement. If an epidemic failure occurs, we may be
required to replace or refund the value of the defective product and to cover certain other costs associated with the consequences of the epidemic failure. In
addition, product defects, product recalls or epidemic failures may cause damage to our reputation or customer relationships, lost revenue, indemnification
for a recall of our customers’ products, warranty claims, litigation or loss of market share with our customers, including our OEM and original design
manufacturers (“ODM”) customers. Our business liability insurance may be inadequate or future coverage may be unavailable on acceptable terms, which
could adversely impact our operating results and financial condition.
Our standard warranties contain limits on damages and exclusions of liability for consequential damages and for misuse, improper installation,
alteration, accident or mishandling while in the possession of someone other than us. We record an accrual for estimated warranty costs at the time revenue
is recognized. We may incur additional expenses if our warranty provisions do not reflect the actual cost of resolving issues related to defects in our
products, whether as a result of a product recall, epidemic failure or otherwise. If these additional expenses are significant, it could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and operating results.
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We are subject to state, federal and international legal and regulatory requirements, such as environmental, labor, trade, health, safety, anticorruption and tax regulations, customers’ standards of corporate citizenship, and industry and coalition standards, such as those established by the
Responsible Business Alliance (“RBA”), and compliance with those requirements could cause an increase in our operating costs and failure to comply
may harm our business.
We are subject to, and may become subject to additional, state, federal and international laws and regulations governing our environmental, labor,
trade, health, safety, anti-corruption and tax practices. These laws and regulations, particularly those applicable to our international operations, are or may
be complex, extensive and subject to change. We will need to ensure that we and our suppliers, customers and partners timely comply with such laws and
regulations, which may result in an increase in our operating costs. Legislation has been, and may in the future be, enacted in locations where we
manufacture or sell our products, which could impair our ability to conduct business in certain jurisdictions or with certain customers and harm our
operating results. In addition, climate change and financial reform legislation is a significant topic of discussion and has generated and may continue to
generate federal, international or other regulatory responses in the near future. If we or our suppliers, customers or partners fail to timely comply with
applicable legislation, certain customers may refuse to purchase our products or we may face increased operating costs as a result of taxes, fines or
penalties, or legal liability and reputational damage, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
In connection with our compliance with environmental laws and regulations, as well as our compliance with industry and coalition environmental
initiatives, such as those established by the RBA, the standards of business conduct required by some of our customers, and our commitment to sound
corporate citizenship in all aspects of our business, we could incur substantial compliance and operating costs and be subject to disruptions to our
operations and logistics. In addition, if we or our suppliers, customers or partners were found to be in violation of these laws or noncompliant with these
initiatives or standards of conduct, we could be subject to governmental fines, liability to our customers and damage to our reputation and corporate brand,
which could cause our financial condition and operating results to suffer.
We and certain of our officers are at times involved in litigation, investigations and governmental proceedings, which may be costly, may divert the
efforts of our key personnel and could result in adverse court rulings, fines or penalties, which could materially harm our business.
We are involved in litigation, including antitrust and commercial matters, putative securities class action suits and other actions. We are the plaintiff in
some of these actions and the defendant in others. Some of the actions seek injunctive relief, including injunctions against the sale of our products, and
substantial monetary damages, which if granted or awarded, could materially harm our business, financial condition and operating results. From time to
time, we may also be the subject of inquiries, requests for information, investigations and actions by government and regulatory agencies regarding our
businesses. Any such matters could result in material adverse consequences to our results of operations, financial condition or ability to conduct our
business, including fines, penalties or restrictions on our business activities.
Litigation is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations. In the event of an
adverse outcome in any litigation, investigation or governmental proceeding, we could be required to pay substantial damages, fines or penalties and cease
certain practices or activities, including the manufacture, use and sale of products. With or without merit, such matters can be complex, can extend for a
protracted period of time, can be very expensive and the expense can be unpredictable. Litigation initiated by us could also result in counter-claims against
us, which could increase the costs associated with the litigation and result in our payment of damages or other judgments against us. In addition, litigation,
investigations or governmental proceedings and any related publicity may divert the efforts and attention of some of our key personnel and may also harm
the market prices of our securities.
We may be obligated to indemnify our current or former directors or employees, or former directors or employees of companies that we have acquired,
in connection with litigation, investigations or governmental proceedings. These liabilities could be substantial and may include, among other things: the
costs of defending lawsuits against these individuals; the cost of defending shareholder derivative suits; the cost of governmental, law enforcement or
regulatory investigations or proceedings; civil or criminal fines and penalties; legal and other expenses; and expenses associated with the remedial
measures, if any, which may be imposed.
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The nature of our industry and its reliance on IP and other proprietary information subjects us and our suppliers, customers and partners to the risk
of significant litigation.
The data storage industry has been characterized by significant litigation. This includes litigation relating to patent and other IP rights, product liability
claims and other types of litigation. We have historically been involved in frequent disputes regarding patent and other IP rights, and we have in the past
received, and we may in the future receive, communications from third parties asserting that certain of our products, processes or technologies infringe
upon their patent rights, copyrights, trademark rights or other IP rights. We may also receive claims of potential infringement if we attempt to license IP to
others. IP risks increase when we enter into new markets where we have little or no IP protection as a defense against litigation. The complexity of the
technology involved and the uncertainty of IP litigation increase the IP risks we face. Litigation can be expensive, lengthy and disruptive to normal
business operations. Moreover, the results of litigation are inherently uncertain and may result in adverse rulings or decisions. We may be subject to
injunctions, enter into settlements or be subject to judgments that may, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or operating results.
If we incorporate third-party technology into our products or if claims or actions are asserted against us for alleged infringement of the IP of others, we
may be required to obtain a license or cross-license, modify our existing technology or design a new non-infringing technology. Such licenses or design
modifications can be extremely costly. We evaluate notices of alleged patent infringement and notices of patents from patent holders that we receive from
time to time. We may decide to settle a claim or action against us, which settlement could be costly. We may also be liable for any past infringement. If
there is an adverse ruling against us in an infringement lawsuit, an injunction could be issued barring production or sale of any infringing product. It could
also result in a damage award equal to a reasonable royalty or lost profits or, if there is a finding of willful infringement, treble damages. Any of these
results would increase our costs and harm our operating results. In addition, our suppliers, customers and partners are subject to similar risks of litigation,
and a material, adverse ruling against a supplier, customer or partner could negatively impact our business.
Moreover, from time to time, we agree to indemnify certain of our suppliers and customers for alleged IP infringement. The scope of such indemnity
varies but may include indemnification for direct and consequential damages and expenses, including attorneys’ fees. We may be engaged in litigation as a
result of these indemnification obligations. Third party claims for patent infringement are excluded from coverage under our insurance policies. A future
obligation to indemnify our customers or suppliers may harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
Our reliance on IP and other proprietary information subjects us to the risk that these key ingredients of our business could be copied by
competitors.
Our success depends, in significant part, on the proprietary nature of our technology, including non-patentable IP such as our process technology. We
primarily rely on patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and other methods, to protect our proprietary
technologies and processes. There can be no assurance that our existing patents will continue to be held valid, if challenged, or that they will have sufficient
scope or strength to protect us. It is also possible that competitors or other unauthorized third parties may obtain, copy, use or disclose, illegally or
otherwise, our proprietary technologies and processes, despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technologies and processes. If a competitor is able to
reproduce or otherwise capitalize on our technology despite the safeguards we have in place, it may be difficult, expensive or impossible for us to obtain
necessary legal protection. There are entities whom we believe may infringe our IP. Enforcement of our rights often requires litigation. If we bring a patent
infringement action and are not successful, our competitors would be able to use similar technology to compete with us. Moreover, the defendant in such an
action may successfully countersue us for infringement of their patents or assert a counterclaim that our patents are invalid or unenforceable. Also, the laws
of some foreign countries may not protect our IP to the same extent as do U.S. laws. In addition to patent protection of IP rights, we consider elements of
our product designs and processes to be proprietary and confidential. We rely upon employee, consultant and vendor non-disclosure agreements and
contractual provisions and a system of internal safeguards to protect our proprietary information. However, any of our registered or unregistered IP rights
may be challenged or exploited by others in the industry, which could harm our operating results.
The success of our branded products depends in part on the positive image that consumers have of our brands. We believe the popularity of our brands
makes them a target of counterfeiting or imitation, with third parties attempting to pass off counterfeit products as our products. Any occurrence of
counterfeiting, imitation or confusion with our brands could adversely affect our reputation and impair the value of our brands, which in turn could
negatively impact sales of our branded products, our share and our gross margin, as well as increase our administrative costs related to brand protection and
counterfeit detection and prosecution.
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Flash Ventures’ equipment lease agreements contain covenants and other cancellation events, and cancellation of the leases would harm our
business, operating results and financial condition.
Flash Ventures sells to and leases back a portion of its equipment from a consortium of financial institutions. Most of the lease obligations are
guaranteed 50% by us and 50% by Kioxia. Some of the lease obligations are guaranteed in full by us. As of April 3, 2020, the portion of outstanding
obligations covered by our guarantees totaled approximately $1.83 billion, based upon the Japanese yen to U.S. dollar exchange rate at April 3, 2020. The
leases are subject to customary covenants and cancellation events that relate to Flash Ventures and each of the guarantors. Cancellation events include,
among other things, an assignment of all or a substantial part of a guarantor’s business and acceleration of other monetary debts of Flash Ventures or a
guarantor above a specified threshold. If a cancellation event were to occur, Flash Ventures would be required to negotiate a resolution with the other
parties to the lease transactions to avoid cancellation and acceleration of the lease obligations. Such resolution could include, among other things,
supplementary security to be supplied by us, increased interest rates or waiver fees. If a resolution is not reached, we may be required to pay all of the
outstanding lease obligations covered by our guarantees, which would significantly reduce our cash position and may force us to seek additional financing,
which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
If we do not resume paying a quarterly cash dividend or repurchasing shares of our common stock, the market price of our common stock could
decline.
In April 2020, we suspended our quarterly cash dividend policy. In addition, we have not repurchased shares of our common stock pursuant to our
stock repurchase program since the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Although we will reevaluate paying cash dividends and repurchasing shares of our common
stock when appropriate, there can be no assurance if, when or at what level we may resume these activities. If we choose not to or are unable to resume
paying cash dividends or repurchasing shares of our common stock in the future, the market price of our common stock may decline.
Fluctuations in currency exchange rates as a result of our international operations may negatively affect our operating results.
Because we manufacture and sell our products abroad, our revenue, cost of revenue, margins, operating costs and cash flows are impacted by
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. If the U.S. dollar exhibits sustained weakness against most foreign currencies, the U.S. dollar equivalents
of unhedged manufacturing costs could increase because a significant portion of our production costs are foreign-currency denominated. Conversely, there
would not be an offsetting impact to revenues since revenues are substantially U.S. dollar denominated. Additionally, we negotiate and procure some of our
component requirements in U.S. dollars from non-U.S. based vendors. If the U.S. dollar weakens against other foreign currencies, some of our component
suppliers may increase the price they charge for their components in order to maintain an equivalent profit margin. In addition, our purchases of flash-based
memory from Flash Ventures and our investment in Flash Ventures are denominated in Japanese yen. If the Japanese yen appreciates against the U.S.
dollar, our cost of purchasing flash-based memory wafers and the cost to us of future capital funding of Flash Ventures would increase. If any of these
events occur, they could have a negative impact on our operating results.
Prices for our products are substantially U.S. dollar denominated, even when sold to customers that are located outside the U.S. Therefore, as a
substantial portion of our sales are from countries outside the U.S., fluctuations in currency exchanges rates, most notably the strengthening of the U.S.
dollar against other foreign currencies, contribute to variations in sales of products in impacted jurisdictions and could adversely impact demand and
revenue growth. In addition, currency variations can adversely affect margins on sales of our products in countries outside the U.S.
We attempt to manage the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes by, among other things, entering into short-term foreign exchange
contracts. However, these contracts may not cover our full exposure, and can be canceled by the counterparty if currency controls are put in place. Thus,
our decisions and hedging strategy with respect to currency risks may not be successful and may harm our operating results. Further, the ability to enter into
foreign exchange contracts with financial institutions is based upon our available credit from such institutions and compliance with covenants and other
restrictions. Operating losses, third party downgrades of our credit rating or instability in the worldwide financial markets could impact our ability to
effectively manage our foreign currency exchange rate risk. Hedging also exposes us to the credit risk of our counterparty financial institutions.
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Increases in our customers’ credit risk could result in credit losses and term extensions under existing contracts with customers with credit losses
could result in an increase in our operating costs.
Some of our OEM customers have adopted a subcontractor model that requires us to contract directly with companies, such as ODMs, that provide
manufacturing and fulfillment services to our OEM customers. Because these subcontractors are generally not as well capitalized as our direct OEM
customers, this subcontractor model exposes us to increased credit risks. Our agreements with our OEM customers may not permit us to increase our
product prices to alleviate this increased credit risk. Additionally, as we attempt to expand our OEM and distribution channel sales into emerging
economies such as Brazil, Russia, India and China, the customers with the most success in these regions may have relatively short operating histories,
making it more difficult for us to accurately assess the associated credit risks. Any credit losses we may suffer as a result of these increased risks, or as a
result of credit losses from any significant customer, especially in situations where there are term extensions under existing contracts with such customers,
would increase our operating costs, which may negatively impact our operating results.
We have made and continue to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to our consolidated financial reporting, and actual results may
differ significantly from our estimates and assumptions.
We have made and continue to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to our consolidated financial reporting. The highly technical
nature of our products and the rapidly changing market conditions with which we deal means that actual results may differ significantly from our estimates
and assumptions. These changes have impacted our financial results in the past and may continue to do so in the future. Key estimates and assumptions for
us include:
•

price protection adjustments and other sales promotions and allowances on products sold to retailers, resellers and distributors;

•

inventory adjustments for write-down of inventories to lower of cost or net realizable value;

•

testing of goodwill and other long-lived assets for impairment;

•

accruals for product returns;

•

accruals for litigation and other contingencies;

•

valuation allowances on deferred tax assets;

•

liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits; and

•

provisional estimates related to tax reform.

In addition, changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices, new accounting pronouncements or taxation rules, or varying interpretations
of current accounting pronouncements or taxation practice could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
The market price of our common stock is volatile.
The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile. Factors that may significantly affect the market price of our
common stock include the following:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results, including those resulting from the seasonality of our business;

•

perceptions about our strategic relationships and joint ventures, access to supply of flash-based memory, new technologies and technology
transitions;

•

announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors, which may decrease the volume and profitability of sales
of our existing products and increase the risk of inventory obsolescence;

•

strategic actions by us or competitors, such as acquisitions and restructurings;
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•

periods of severe pricing pressures due to oversupply or price erosion resulting from competitive pressures or industry consolidation;

•

proposed or adopted regulatory changes or developments or anticipated or pending investigations, proceedings or litigation that involve or affect
us or our competitors;

•

failure to meet analysts’ revenue or earnings estimates or changes in financial estimates or publication of research reports and recommendations
by financial analysts relating specifically to us or the storage industry in general;

•

announcements relating to dividends and share repurchases; and

•

macroeconomic conditions that affect the market generally and, in particular, developments related to market conditions for our industry.

In addition, the sale of substantial amounts of shares of our common stock, or the perception that these sales may occur, could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock. Further, the stock market is subject to fluctuations in the stock prices and trading volumes that affect the market prices
of the stock of public companies, including us. These broad market fluctuations have adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect the market
price of shares of our common stock. For example, expectations concerning general economic conditions may cause the stock market to experience
extreme price and volume fluctuations from time to time that particularly affect the stock prices of many high technology companies. These fluctuations
may be unrelated to the operating performance of the companies.
Securities class action lawsuits are often brought against companies after periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. A number of such
suits have been filed against us in the past, and should any new lawsuits be filed, such matters could result in substantial costs and a diversion of resources
and management’s attention.
Further, a sustained decline in our stock price or market capitalization are among the factors that may be considered a change in circumstances
indicating that the carrying value of our long-lived assets or goodwill may be impaired and, if an impairment review is triggered, could require us to record
a significant charge to earnings in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Our cash balances and investment portfolio are subject to various risks, any of which could adversely impact our financial position.
Given the international footprint of our business, we have both domestic and international cash balances. From time to time, our investment portfolio
may include various holdings, security types, and maturities. Our investment portfolio is subject to general credit, liquidity, market, political, sovereign and
interest rate risks, which may be exacerbated by unusual events that affect global financial markets. Our investment portfolio may include investment grade
corporate securities, bank deposits, asset backed securities and U.S. government and agency securities. If global credit and equity markets experience
prolonged periods of decline, or if there is a downgrade of the U.S. government credit rating due to an actual or threatened default on government debt, our
investment portfolio may be adversely impacted and we could determine that our investments may experience an other-than-temporary decline in fair
value, requiring impairment charges that could adversely affect our financial results. A failure of any of these financial institutions in which deposits
exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits could also have an adverse impact on our financial position.
In addition, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from operations to repay our indebtedness, fund acquisitions, pay dividends, or
repurchase shares of our common stock, we may choose or be required to increase our borrowings, if available, or to repatriate funds to the U.S. at an
additional tax cost. We must comply with regulations regarding the conversion and distribution of funds earned in the local currencies of various countries.
If we cannot comply with these or other applicable regulations, we may face increased difficulties in using cash generated in these countries.
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Item 6. Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index below are filed with, or incorporated by reference in, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as specified in the
Exhibit List, from exhibits previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain agreements listed in the Exhibit Index that we have filed
or incorporated by reference may contain representations and warranties by us or our subsidiaries. These representations and warranties have been made
solely for the benefit of the other party or parties to such agreements and (i) may have been qualified by disclosures made to such other party or parties,
(ii) were made only as of the date of such agreements or such other date(s) as may be specified in such agreements and are subject to more recent
developments, which may not be fully reflected in our public disclosures, (iii) may reflect the allocation of risk among the parties to such agreements and
(iv) may apply materiality standards different from what may be viewed as material to investors. Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not
describe the actual state of affairs at the date hereof and should not be relied upon.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Western Digital Corporation, as amended to date (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 8, 2006)

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Western Digital Corporation, as amended effective as of May 2, 2018 (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-08703) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2018)

10.1

Offer Letter, dated February 18, 2020, to David Goeckeler†*

10.2

Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement – CEO Sign-On Award†*

10.3

Notice of Grant of Performance Stock Units and Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement – TSR Measure (CEO Sign-On Award)†*

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002**

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002**

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document - formatted in Inline XBRL†

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document†

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document†

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document†

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document†

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document†

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File - formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101

† Filed with this report.
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
** Furnished with this report.

69

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
By:

/s/ Gene Zamiska
Gene Zamiska
Vice President, Global Accounting and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Dated: May 8, 2020
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Exhibit 10.1

Western Digital Corporation
5601 Great Oaks Parkway
San Jose, California 95119

February 18, 2020

David Goeckeler
[address redacted]

Dear David,
It is with great pleasure that we at Western Digital extend this offer of employment to you to serve as our Chief
Executive Officer reporting to the Board of Directors. In connection with your appointment as our Chief Executive
Officer, the Board of Directors also intends to appoint you as a member of the Board, effective on or around your
employment start date. This offer is contingent upon successful completion of background and reference checks.
Salary
This position is exempt and will pay an annual base salary of $1,250,000 (US Dollars).
Annual Short-Term Incentive Compensation During your employment, you will be eligible to participate in Western
Digital's Executive Short-Term Incentive (STI) Plan beginning with a pro rata award for fiscal year 2020. The
performance period is Western Digital’s fiscal year, which begins on or about July 1 each fiscal year. Your start date
must be at least one month prior to the end of the fiscal year to be eligible to participate. The payout will be based on
your eligible wages earned during the performance period. Funding will be based on corporate business results and
is contingent upon approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (Committee). Your individual
target payout is 175% of your eligible earnings for each performance period.
Annual Long-Term Incentive Compensation
During your employment, you will also be eligible to receive awards under our annual long-term incentive (LTI)
program beginning in fiscal year 2021. Contingent upon approval by the Committee, we will recommend a fiscal year
2021 LTI award with a market value at grant of $12,000,000 (US Dollars). The LTI award will consist of 40% restricted
stock units (RSUs) and 60% performance stock units (PSUs).

Sign-On Awards
Contingent upon your commencing employment with Western Digital, you will receive the following sign-on awards
with an aggregate market value at grant of $34,000,000 (US Dollars):
RSU Award
The sign-on award will include an RSU grant with a market value at grant of $10,000,000 (US Dollars) which
will be subject to Western Digital's Standard Terms and Conditions for restricted stock unit awards. This award
value will be converted to a number (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of RSUs equal to (i)
$10,000,000 (US Dollars), divided by (ii) the closing stock price of a share of Western Digital’s common stock
as of the grant date of the award. The grant date will be within 30 calendar days of your first day of
employment at Western Digital. These RSUs are to be settled in shares of Western Digital common stock at
the time of vesting. Vesting will occur in substantially equal annual installments on each of the next two (2)
anniversaries of the date of grant. Please note that vesting will cease upon termination of your service with
Western Digital or one of its subsidiaries, except if we terminate your employment without “Cause” (as defined
in Western Digital’s Executive Severance Plan). If we terminate your employment without Cause, the sign-on
RSU award will fully vest and be settled in connection with your separation date provided that you satisfy
applicable release requirements.
PSU Award
The sign-on award will include a PSU grant with a market value at grant of $20,500,000 (US Dollars) which will
be subject to Western Digital's Standard Terms and Conditions for performance stock unit awards. This award
value will be converted to a number (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of PSUs equal to (i)
$20,500,000 (US Dollars), divided by (ii) the closing stock price of a share of Western Digital’s common stock
as of the grant date of the award. The grant date will be within 30 calendar days of your first day of
employment at Western Digital. These PSUs are to be settled in shares of Western Digital common stock at
the time of vesting. Vesting will be based on Western Digital’s relative TSR performance compared to the S&P
500 Index constituents over a three (3) year period, with payout of 50% at 25th percentile performance, 80%
payout at median performance and 150% payout at 75th percentile performance. Payout for performance
between these points will be determined using straight line interpolation. Please note that vesting will cease
upon termination of your service with Western Digital or one of its subsidiaries, except if we terminate your
employment without Cause. If we terminate your employment without Cause, the sign-on PSU award will
remain outstanding and subject to the performance conditions underlying the award; the award will settle at the
end of the performance period based on Western Digital’s actual performance under the award provided that
you satisfy applicable release requirements.
Sign-On Cash
The sign-on award will include a cash payment of $3,500,000 (US Dollars), payable within three weeks of your
start date. The sign-on cash award is subject to repayment to Western Digital if you do not remain employed
by Western Digital through the first anniversary of your start date, unless we terminate your employment
without Cause. If we terminate your employment without Cause, you will not be required to repay the sign-on
cash award if you provide a satisfactory release of claims to Western Digital. The sign-on cash award is
considered taxable income to you.

Change in Control
Western Digital’s current Standard Terms and Conditions for RSUs and PSUs generally provide that, in connection
with a transaction in which Western Digital will not survive or will not survive as a public company in respect of our
common stock, the Committee may provide that performance will be deemed satisfied as to open PSU performance
periods at 100% of the applicable “target” level or such greater level as the Committee may provide, a unit subject to
the awards may be settled in cash based on the closing transaction price, and if the awards are to be terminated (and
not assumed or continued) in the transaction, all time-based vesting requirements applicable to RSUs and PSUs will
be deemed satisfied. In addition to the foregoing change in control benefits, you will be entitled to severance benefits
in the event you are terminated without “Cause” or you resign for “Good Reason” following a Change in Control
pursuant to Western Digital’s Change of Control Severance Plan. Such severance benefits generally consist of: a
lump sum payment equal to two times your annual base salary plus target STI award; 100% vesting of any unvested
outstanding equity awards, with any performance-based equity awards becoming vested at target; and 24 months of
continued health and welfare benefits.
Confidential Information
As a condition of employment, immediately upon hire you will be required to sign an Employee Inventions and
Confidentiality Agreement governing inventions, proprietary information and such other subject matter, which Western
Digital considers vital to protect its operation. Please also be advised that Western Digital respects the confidential
information and trade secrets of others and endeavors to comply with all laws regarding the use and protection of
trade secret information. Western Digital takes its obligations in this respect very seriously and expects the same
from its employees. As you prepare to terminate your current employment, please ensure that all documents and
property belonging to your employer are returned. This includes documents you may have prepared in the course of
your employment and documents that may be in your home, on your home computer or in your car. Western Digital
does not want access to any confidential information belonging to your former employer and specifically directs you
not to take this information with you or bring onto Western Digital’s premises. You are prohibited from using trade
secret or confidential information or property of any previous employer or other person in connection with carrying out
your job duties at Western Digital.
Employment Terms
You are employed by Western Digital on an at-will basis. This means that either you or Western Digital may terminate
the employment relationship at any time, with or without cause. The at-will nature of your employment with Western
Digital can only be changed by an agreement in writing signed by you and the Chief Human Resources Officer.
Furthermore, by accepting employment with Western Digital, you warrant that you are not bound by the terms of an
employment agreement with a third party that would preclude or limit your right to work for Western Digital. You agree
to provide Western Digital with a copy of any and all agreements with a third party that contain any restrictions or
obligations that conflict with, or are inconsistent with, the performance of your duties for Western Digital.
Benefits
As a senior leader in the organization you will not accrue vacation hours, but will coordinate your time off around the
needs of the business. You will be eligible on your first day of employment for our benefits plan, which allows you to
choose the coverage that fits your needs. You will also be eligible to

join the Western Digital Corporation 401(k) Plan immediately. You will receive a complete benefits summary during
your orientation on your first day of employment. Your position qualifies you for additional benefits provided
exclusively to executives of your level including Financial Counseling Reimbursement and company paid life
insurance up to $500,000 (US Dollars) (which may require evidence of insurability).
Employment Commencement
Your first day of employment will be a mutually acceptable date in March 2020 to be determined. Your work location
will be at our headquarters at 5601 Great Oaks Parkway, San Jose, CA 95119. On your first day, you will be required
to provide authentic documents that establish your identity and employment eligibility.
Notwithstanding anything else contained herein to the contrary, this offer and your employment by Western Digital are
subject to your appointment by the Board of Directors as Western Digital’s Chief Executive Officer.
If there are any questions of which I may be of assistance, please let me know.
Sincerely,
/s/Lori Sundberg
Lori Sundberg
Chief Human Resources Officer
Accepted and Agreed:
/s/David Goeckeler
David Goeckeler

Date: 03/02/20

Exhibit 10.2

Western Digital Corporation
5601 Great Oaks Parkway
San Jose, California 95119
(408) 717-6000

Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units
and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement – CEO Sign-On Award
David Goeckeler
[address redacted]

Award Number: [redacted]
Plan: 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
ID: [redacted]

———————————————————

Congratulations! Effective March 9, 2020 (the “Grant Date”), you have been granted stock units (the “Restricted Stock Units”) of Western
Digital Corporation. The Restricted Stock Units were granted under and are subject to the Corporation’s 2017 Performance Incentive Plan, as
amended (the “Plan”).
Vesting:
Stock Units
105,485
105,485

Vest Type
On Vest Date
On Vest Date

Full Vest
3/9/2021
3/9/2022

———————————————————

Your Restricted Stock Unit award is subject to the terms and conditions of this Notice, the attached Terms and Conditions for Restricted
Stock Unit Award – CEO (the “Terms”) and the Plan. By accepting the award, you are agreeing to the terms of the award as set forth in those
documents. You should read the Plan, the Prospectus for the Plan, and the Terms. The Terms and the Plan are each incorporated into and
made a part of this Notice by this reference. You do not have to accept your award. If you do not agree to the terms of your award, you
should promptly return this Notice to the Western Digital Corporation Stock Plans Administrator indicating that you do not wish to accept the
award and your Restricted Stock Units will be cancelled.
A copy of the Plan, the Prospectus for the Plan, and the Terms have been provided to you. If you need another copy of these documents, or if
you would like to confirm that you have the most recent version, please contact the Corporation’s Stock Plans Administrator.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD – CEO
Amended and Restated 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
1. Restricted Stock Units Subject to Amended and Restated 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
The Restricted Stock Unit Award (the “Award”) referred to in the attached Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement – CEO Sign-On Award (the “Notice”) was awarded under Western Digital Corporation’s (the “Corporation’s”) Amended and Restated 2017
Performance Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”). Each Restricted Stock Unit covered by the Award (“Stock Unit”) is a non-voting unit of
measurement that is deemed for bookkeeping purposes to be equivalent to one outstanding share of Common Stock (subject to adjustment as provided in
Section 7.1 of the Plan). The holder of the Stock Units is referred to herein as the “Participant.” Stock Units shall be used solely as a device for the
determination of the number of shares of Common Stock to eventually be delivered to the Participant if Stock Units held by such Participant vest pursuant
to Section 4, Section 7 or Section 8 and shall not be treated as property or as a trust fund of any kind. Stock Units granted to the Participant shall be
credited to an unfunded bookkeeping account maintained by the Corporation on behalf of the Participant (a “Stock Unit Account”).
The Stock Units are subject to the terms and provisions of the Notice, these Terms and Conditions for the Restricted Stock Unit Award – CEO (these
“Terms”), and the Plan. To the extent any information in the Notice, the prospectus for the Plan, or other information provided by the Corporation conflicts
with the Plan and/or these Terms, the Plan or these Terms, as applicable, shall control. To the extent any terms and provisions in these Terms conflict with
the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Plan shall control.
Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the Plan or in the Notice, as applicable.
2. Award Agreement
The Notice and these Terms, together (the “Award Agreement”), constitute the award agreement with respect to the Award pursuant to Section 5.2 of the
Plan.
3. Deferral of Stock Units
Not applicable.
4. Vesting
Except as otherwise provided in this Award Agreement, the Award shall vest and become nonforfeitable in percentage installments of the aggregate number
of Stock Units as set forth in the Notice. Except as expressly provided in Sections 7 and 8 below, vesting requires continued employment or service with
the Corporation or one of its Subsidiaries through each applicable vesting date as a condition to the vesting of the applicable installment of the Award and
the rights and benefits under this Award Agreement. Except as expressly provided in Sections 7 and 8 below, employment or service for only a portion of
the vesting period, even if a substantial portion, will not entitle the Participant to any proportionate vesting, or avoid or mitigate a termination of rights and
benefits upon or following a termination of employment or services as provided in Section 8 below or under the Plan.
5. Dividend Equivalent Rights Distributions
As of any date that the Corporation pays an ordinary cash dividend on its Common Stock, the Corporation shall credit the Participant’s Stock Unit Account
with an additional number of Stock Units equal to (i) the per share cash dividend paid by the Corporation on its Common Stock on such date, multiplied by
(ii) the number of Stock Units remaining subject to the Award as of the related dividend payment record date, divided by (iii) the Fair Market Value of a
share of Common Stock on the date of payment of such dividend. The Stock Units credited pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 5 shall be
subject to the same vesting, payment and other terms, conditions and restrictions as the original Stock Units to which they relate.
6. Timing and Manner of Payment of Stock Units
Subject to Section 7 below, any Stock Unit granted (or credited pursuant to Section 5) to the Participant that becomes vested (whether pursuant to Section
4, Section 7 or Section 8 hereof) shall be paid to the Participant on or within sixty (60) days following the date on

which the Stock Unit vests. The Corporation shall make payment of a Stock Unit that has vested by delivering to the Participant a share of Common Stock
(either by delivering one or more certificates for the shares deliverable or by entering such shares in book entry form, as determined by the Corporation in
its sole discretion), subject to adjustment as provided in Section 7.1 of the Plan. The Corporation’s obligation to deliver shares of Common Stock with
respect to vested Stock Units is subject to the condition precedent that the Participant (or other person entitled under the Plan to receive any shares with
respect to the vested Stock Units) delivers to the Corporation any representations or other documents or assurances required pursuant to Section 8.1 of the
Plan in advance of the scheduled payment date. The Participant shall have no further rights with respect to any Stock Units that are paid pursuant to this
Section 6 or Section 7 hereof, or that are terminated pursuant to Section 7 or Section 8 hereof, and such Stock Units shall be removed from the Participant’s
Stock Unit Account upon the date of such payment or termination. The Corporation may, in its sole discretion, settle any Stock Units credited as dividend
equivalents by a cash payment equal to the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of payment (as opposed to payment in the form of
shares of Common Stock).
7. Change in Control Event
In connection with a transaction referenced in Section 7.2 of the Plan in connection with which the Corporation will not survive or will not survive as a
public company in respect of its Common Stock, the Administrator may (without limiting the adjustment authority of Section 7.1 of the Plan and without
limiting the flexibility of the Administrator to provide for the assumption, substitution or exchange of the Award pursuant to Section 7.2 of the Plan)
provide that payment for each Stock Unit that is otherwise outstanding on the date of such event and that becomes vested may be made in the form of cash
in an amount equal to the fair market value of a share of Common Stock as of the date of the closing of such transaction. However, notwithstanding
anything otherwise provided in Section 7.2 of the Plan but subject to the following sentence, the time of payment of the Award may not be changed and
shall be as set forth in Section 6 above. The Administrator may (notwithstanding the time of payment provisions of Sections 6 and 8 hereof) provide for the
termination of the Stock Units subject to the Award in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control Event in connection with which the
Administrator has not made a provision for the substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the Award; provided that (A) in such event, the
portion of the Award that is outstanding and unvested immediately prior to such termination shall vest and become payable, and (B) such acceleration,
termination and payment of the Award satisfies the requirements of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix) (which requirements include the Change in
Control Event qualifying as a change in the ownership or effective control of the Corporation, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the
assets of the Corporation, within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)).
8. Termination of Employment
(a) Termination of Employment Generally. Except as expressly provided below in this Section 8, if the Participant ceases to be employed by or to provide
services to the Corporation or its Subsidiaries for any reason (the last day that the Participant is employed by or provides services as a consultant or director
to the Corporation or a Subsidiary prior to a period in which the Participant is not employed by, and does not have any such service relationship with, any
such entity as determined by the Administrator is referred to as the Participant’s “Separation Date”), the Participant’s Stock Units shall, to the extent such
Stock Units have not become vested upon the Separation Date, automatically be forfeited to the Corporation effective immediately following the
Separation Date. If the Participant is entitled to any accelerated vesting pursuant to any provision below in this Section 8, any remaining unvested portion
of the Participant’s Stock Units (after giving effect to such acceleration) shall automatically be forfeited to the Corporation effective immediately following
the Separation Date.
(b) Death of the Participant. In the event of the Participant’s death at a time when the Participant is employed by or providing services to the Corporation or
any of its Subsidiaries, a portion of the otherwise outstanding and unvested Stock Units subject to the Award shall automatically become vested as of the
date of the Participant’s death, and shall be paid to the Participant as provided in Section 6 above. In such event, the number of Stock Units that shall
become vested on the date of the date of the Participant’s death equals (i) minus (ii) (but not less than zero), where (i) is the Employment Fraction
(determined as set forth below) multiplied by the total number of Stock Units originally subject to the Award (subject to adjustment as provided in Section
9 hereof but before taking the crediting of dividend equivalent Stock Units pursuant to Section 5 above into account), and (ii) is the number of Stock Units
otherwise paid or payable on or prior to the date of the Separation Date (before taking the acceleration contemplated by this Section 8(b) into account and
before taking the crediting of dividend equivalent Stock Units pursuant to Section 5 above into account). To the extent any Stock Units accelerate in
connection with the Participant’s death pursuant to the preceding sentence, the dividend equivalent Stock Units credited pursuant to Section 5 above with
respect to such Stock Units shall also accelerate and become vested as of the Separation Date. For purposes of this Section 8, the “Employment Fraction”
equals a fraction (not greater than one), the numerator of which is the total number of calendar days in the period beginning with the Grant Date as set forth
in the Notice through and including the Participant’s Separation Date, and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days in the period

beginning with the Grant Date as set forth in the Notice through and including the last scheduled vesting date applicable to the Award as set forth in the
Notice.
(c) Severance Benefits. In the event the Participant ceases to be employed by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of a termination of
employment by the Corporation or one of its Subsidiaries without “Cause” (as defined below), the Award (to the extent outstanding and not previously
vested) shall fully vest on the Participant’s Separation Date and shall be paid to the Participant as provided in Section 6 above.
For purposes of this Award Agreement, the term “Cause” is used as defined in the Western Digital Corporation Executive Severance Plan (or any
applicable successor executive severance plan, as each is in effect at the time of such termination of employment) (“Pre-CIC Severance Plan”); provided,
however, that if such termination of the Participant’s employment occurs upon or within the one (1) year period following the occurrence of a Change in
Control Event, the term “Cause” is used as defined in the Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Change of Control Severance Plan (or any
applicable successor change of control severance plan, as each is in effect at the time of such termination of employment) (a “CIC Severance Plan”).
In the event the Participant’s employment terminates in circumstances as to which the Participant is entitled to severance benefits pursuant to a CIC
Severance Plan (and other than a termination in the circumstances described in the first paragraph of this Section 8(c)), the extent to which the Award vests
will be determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of the CIC Severance Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any accelerated vesting of the Award pursuant to this Section 8(c) is subject to the Participant satisfying the release
requirements of the Pre-CIC Severance Plan (in the case of a termination prior to or more than one year after a Change in Control Event) or of the CIC
Severance Plan (in the case of a termination within one year after a Change in Control Event).
The treatment of the Award in any circumstances as to which the Participant is entitled to severance benefits pursuant to a Pre-CIC Severance Plan or a CIC
Severance Plan (including, without limitation, the extent (if any) to which the Award vests or accelerates in such circumstances (other than as expressly
provided in this Section 8(c)) as well as the timing of payment of the Award) shall be governed by this Award Agreement and not by the Pre-CIC
Severance Plan or CIC Severance Plan, as the case may be. As to the Award, this Award Agreement controls in the event of any inconsistency or conflict
with a Pre-CIC Severance Plan or CIC Severance Plan, and to that extent this Award Agreement amends any applicable Pre-CIC Severance Plan or CIC
Severance Plan as to the Award.
9. Adjustments
The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the Stock Units in such circumstances as it, in its sole discretion, may determine; provided that the time of
payment of the Stock Units as otherwise set forth herein may not be changed. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events relating to the
Corporation’s stock contemplated by Section 7.1 of the Plan, the Administrator will make adjustments if appropriate in the number of Stock Units then
outstanding and the number and kind of securities that may be issued in respect of the Award. No such adjustment shall be made with respect to any
ordinary cash dividend for which dividend equivalents are credited or to be credited pursuant to Section 5 above.
10. Withholding Taxes
Upon or in connection with the crediting, vesting or payment of Stock Units, or any other time when tax withholding may be required with respect to the
Award, the Corporation (or the Subsidiary last employing the Participant) shall have the right at its option to (a) require the Participant to pay or provide for
payment in cash of the amount of any taxes that the Corporation or the Subsidiary may be required to withhold with respect to such crediting, vesting,
payment or other event, or (b) deduct from any amount payable to the Participant (pursuant to the Award or otherwise) the amount of any taxes that the
Corporation or the Subsidiary may be required to withhold with respect to such crediting, vesting, payment or other event. In any case where a tax is
required to be withheld in connection with the delivery of shares of Common Stock under this Award Agreement, the Administrator may, in its sole
discretion, direct the Corporation or the Subsidiary to reduce the number of shares to be delivered by (or otherwise reacquire) the appropriate number of
whole shares, valued at their then fair market value, to satisfy such withholding obligation at the applicable withholding rates. In addition, the
Administrator may, in its sole discretion but only to the extent consistent with Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(vi), reduce the number of Stock Units
remaining subject to the Award, with each such Stock Unit to have a value for such purpose equal to the then fair market value of a share of Common
Stock, to satisfy such withholding obligation at the applicable withholding rates.

11. Nontransferability
Neither the Award, nor any interest therein or amount or shares payable in respect thereof may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed
of, anticipated, alienated, encumbered, either voluntarily or involuntarily. The transfer restrictions in the preceding sentence shall not apply to (a) transfers
to the Corporation (i.e., upon the termination of a Stock Unit), or (b) transfers by will or the laws of descent and distribution.
12. No Right to Employment
Nothing contained in this Award Agreement or the Plan constitutes an employment or service commitment by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries,
affects the Participant’s status, if he or she is an employee, as an employee at will who is subject to termination without cause, confers upon the Participant
any right to remain employed by or in service to the Corporation or any Subsidiary, interferes in any way with the right of the Corporation or any
Subsidiary at any time to terminate such employment or service, or affects the right of the Corporation or any Subsidiary to increase or decrease the
Participant’s other compensation.
13. Rights as a Stockholder
Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Notice and these Terms, the Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder of the Corporation, no dividend rights
(except as expressly provided in Section 5 above with respect to dividend equivalent rights) and no voting rights with respect to Stock Units awarded to the
Participant and any shares of Common Stock underlying or issuable in respect of such Stock Units until such shares of Common Stock are actually issued
to and held of record by the Participant. No adjustments will be made for dividends or other rights of a holder for which the record date is prior to the date
of such issuance of such shares.
14. Notices
Any notice to be given under the terms of this Award Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the Corporation at its principal office to the attention
of the Secretary, and to the Participant at the address last reflected on the Corporation’s payroll records, or at such other address as either party may
hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be delivered in person or shall be enclosed in a properly sealed envelope addressed as
aforesaid, registered or certified, and deposited (postage and registry or certification fee prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained
by the United States Government, or for non-U.S. employees, the government of the country where the Participant is working and/or residing. Any such
notice shall be given only when received, but if the Participant is no longer employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiary, shall be deemed to have been
duly given five business days after the date mailed in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 14.
15. Arbitration
Any controversy arising out of or relating to this Award Agreement (including these Terms) and/or the Plan, their enforcement or interpretation, or because
of an alleged breach, default, or misrepresentation in connection with any of their provisions, or any other controversy arising out of or related to the
Award, including, but not limited to, any state or federal statutory claims (“Covered Claims”), shall be resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Western Digital Technologies, Inc. Dispute Resolution Agreement (the “DRA”). If, however, Participant has opted out of the DRA pursuant to
Section 3.3 of the DRA, any Covered Claims by Corporation or Participant shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to this Section 15. Such arbitration
shall be held in Orange County, California, U.S.A., before a sole arbitrator selected from Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc., Orange,
California, or its successor (“JAMS”), or if JAMS is no longer able to supply the arbitrator, such arbitrator shall be selected from the American Arbitration
Association, and shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act; provided, however, that provisional injunctive relief
may, but need not, be sought by either party in a court of law to maintain the status quo while arbitration proceedings are pending, and any provisional
injunctive relief granted by such court shall remain effective until the matter is finally determined by the arbitrator. Except as otherwise stated herein, this
Section 15 also requires arbitration of any disputes concerning the enforceability, interpretation, and/or implementation of this Section 15 and the
arbitrability of any claims brought hereunder, which shall also be decided by an arbitrator. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, Participant and
Corporation agree to bring any Covered Claims on an individual basis only, and not on a class, collective, joint, or representative basis. If, however, the
preceding sentence be determined invalid or unenforceable with respect to any particular Covered Claim, than that Covered Claim will not proceed in
arbitration but rather will be resolved in a court of competent jurisdiction. If that occurs, however, this Section 15 will still be fully enforceable as to all
other Covered Claims, which must be resolved in arbitration on an individual basis. Any arbitrable claims in arbitration will be resolved first and the parties
agree to seek a stay of any non-arbitrable claims until the full completion of the arbitral process. Any claim that the requirement in this Section 15 that
Covered Claims be arbitrated on an

individual basis only is invalid, unenforceable, unconscionable, void or voidable may be determined only by a court of competent jurisdiction and not by an
Arbitrator. Final resolution of any dispute through arbitration may include any and all remedies that may be obtained in a court. Statutes of limitation for
Covered Claims submitted to arbitration under this Section 15 shall be the same as they would be if those claims were brought in court. At the conclusion
of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall issue a written decision that sets forth the essential findings and conclusions upon which the arbitrator’s award or
decision is based. Any award or relief granted by the arbitrator hereunder shall be final and binding on the parties hereto and may be enforced by any court
of competent jurisdiction. The Corporation shall be responsible for payment of the forum costs of any arbitration hereunder, including the arbitrator’s fee.
Each party shall bear its own attorney’s fees and costs (other than forum costs associated with the arbitration) incurred by it or him or her in connection
with the resolution of the dispute. If, however, any party prevails on a statutory claim, which affords the prevailing party attorneys’ fees and costs, then the
arbitrator may award reasonable fees and costs to the prevailing party. The arbitrator may not award attorneys’ fees to a party that would not otherwise be
entitled to such an award under the applicable statute. The parties acknowledge and agree that they are hereby waiving any rights to trial by jury in any
action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties against the other in connection with any matter whatsoever arising out of or in any way
connected with any Covered Claim(s), either by virtue of Participant’s acceptance without opting out of the DRA or, if Participant did opt out of the DRA,
by virtue of the provisions of this Section 15.
16. Governing Law
This Award Agreement, including these Terms, shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware (without regard to
conflict of law principles thereunder) and applicable United States federal law.
17. Severability
Except as otherwise provided by Section 15, if the arbitrator selected in accordance with Section 15 above or a court of competent jurisdiction determines
that any portion of this Award Agreement (including these Terms) or the Plan is in violation of any statute or public policy, then only the portions of this
Award Agreement or the Plan, as applicable, which are found to violate such statute or public policy shall be stricken, and all portions of this Award
Agreement and the Plan which are not found to violate any statute or public policy shall continue in full force and effect. Furthermore, except as otherwise
provided by Section 15, it is the parties’ intent that any order striking any portion of this Award Agreement and/or the Plan should modify the stricken
terms as narrowly as possible to give as much effect as possible to the intentions of the parties hereunder.
18. Entire Agreement
This Award Agreement (including these Terms) and the Plan together constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior understandings and
agreements, written or oral, of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. However, this Award Agreement shall not supersede or in any
way affect the DRA, which shall remain in full force and effect, unless Participant opted out of the DRA pursuant to the provisions therein. The Plan and
this Award Agreement may be amended pursuant to Section 8.6 of the Plan. Such amendment must be in writing and signed by the Corporation. The
Corporation may, however, unilaterally waive any provision hereof in writing to the extent such waiver does not adversely affect the interests of the
Participant hereunder, but no such waiver shall operate as or be construed to be a subsequent waiver of the same provision or a waiver of any other
provision hereof. Provisions of the Plan that confer discretionary authority on the Board or the Administrator do not and shall not be deemed to create any
rights in the Participant unless such rights are expressly set forth herein or are otherwise in the sole discretion of the Board or the Administrator so
conferred by appropriate action of the Board or the Administrator under the Plan after the Grant Date.
19. Section Headings
The section headings of this Award Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to alter or affect any provision hereof.
20. Imposition of Other Requirements
The Corporation reserves the right to impose other requirements on the Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the Stock Units and on any shares of
Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Corporation determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to
require Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

21. Construction
It is intended that the terms of the Award will not result in the imposition of any tax liability pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. This Award Agreement
shall be construed and interpreted consistent with that intent.
22. Clawback Policy
The Stock Units, as well as any payment (whether in cash, shares of Common Stock or other property) made pursuant to the Award with respect to the
Stock Units, are subject to the terms of the Corporation’s Compensation Recovery Policy (as well as any successor compensation recoupment, clawback or
similar policy adopted by the Corporation), as each may be in effect from time to time, as well as any compensation recoupment, clawback or similar
provisions of applicable law, any of which could in certain circumstances require repayment or forfeiture of the Stock Units or any shares of Common
Stock or other cash or property received with respect to the Stock Units (including any value received from a disposition of the shares acquired upon
payment of the Stock Units).
23. No Advice Regarding Grant
The Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own tax, legal and/or investment advisors with respect to any advice the Participant may
determine is needed or appropriate with respect to the Stock Units (including, without limitation, to determine the foreign, state, local, estate and/or gift tax
consequences with respect to the Award). Neither the Corporation nor any of its officers, directors, affiliates or advisors makes any representation (except
for the terms and conditions expressly set forth in this Award Agreement) or recommendation with respect to the Award. Except for the withholding rights
set forth in Section 10 above, the Participant is solely responsible for any and all tax liability that may arise with respect to the Award.
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Western Digital Corporation
5601 Great Oaks Parkway
San Jose, California 95119
(408) 717-6000

Notice of Grant of Performance Stock Units
and Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement – TSR Measure (CEO Sign-On Award)

David Goeckeler
[address redacted]

Award Number: [redacted]
Plan: 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
ID: [redacted]

———————————————————

Congratulations! Effective March 9, 2020 (the “Grant Date”), you have been granted stock units (the “Performance Stock Units”)
of Western Digital Corporation (the “Corporation”). These Performance Stock Units were granted under and are subject to the
Corporation’s 2017 Performance Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”).
Total Target Number of Performance Stock Units: 432,489
Vesting Date: The last day of the Measurement Period (as defined below)
Measurement Period covered by grant: The “Measurement Period” applicable to the Performance Stock Units subject to the
award is the performance measurement period that begins March 9, 2020 and ends March 8, 2023. The actual number of
Performance Stock Units that may become eligible to vest on the Vesting Date based on performance during the Measurement
Period may range from 0% to 150% of the Total Target Number of Performance Stock Units subject to the award, subject to
forfeiture under Section 8 of the attached Terms and Conditions for Performance Stock Unit Award – TSR Measure (CEO SignOn Award) (the “Terms”).
———————————————————

Your Performance Stock Unit award is subject to the terms and conditions of this Notice, the attached Terms and the Plan. By
accepting the award, you are agreeing to the terms of the award as set forth in those documents. You should read the Plan, the
Prospectus for the Plan, and the Terms. The Terms and the Plan are each incorporated into and made a part of this Notice by this
reference. You do not have to accept your award. If you do not agree to the terms of your award, you should promptly return this
Notice to the Western Digital Corporation Stock Plans Administrator indicating that you do not wish to accept the award and
your Performance Stock Units will be cancelled.
A copy of the Plan, the Prospectus for the Plan, and the Terms have been provided to you. If you need another copy of these
documents, or if you would like to confirm that you have the most recent version, please contact the Corporation’s Stock Plans
Administrator.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR
PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD - TSR MEASURE (CEO SIGN-ON AWARD)
Amended and Restated 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
1. Performance Stock Units Subject to Amended and Restated 2017 Performance Incentive Plan
The Performance Stock Unit Award (the “Award”) referred to in the attached Notice of Grant of Performance Stock Units and Performance Stock Unit
Award Agreement - TSR Measure (CEO Sign-On Award) (the “Notice”) was awarded under Western Digital Corporation’s (the “Corporation’s”) Amended
and Restated 2017 Performance Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”). Each Performance Stock Unit covered by the Award (“Stock Unit”) is a nonvoting unit of measurement that is deemed for bookkeeping purposes to be equivalent to one outstanding share of Common Stock (subject to adjustment as
provided in Section 7.1 of the Plan). The holder of the Stock Units is referred to herein as the “Participant.” Stock Units shall be used solely as a device for
the determination of the number of shares of Common Stock to eventually be delivered to the Participant if Stock Units held by such Participant vest
pursuant to Section 4, Section 7 or Section 8 and shall not be treated as property or as a trust fund of any kind. The target number of Stock Units granted to
the Participant shall be credited to an unfunded bookkeeping account maintained by the Corporation on behalf of the Participant (a “Stock Unit Account”).
The Stock Units are subject to the terms and provisions of the Notice, these Terms and Conditions for the Performance Stock Unit Award – TSR Measure
(CEO Sign-On Award) (these “Terms”), and the Plan. To the extent any information in the Notice, the prospectus for the Plan, or other information
provided by the Corporation conflicts with the Plan and/or these Terms, the Plan or these Terms, as applicable, shall control. To the extent any terms and
provisions in these Terms conflict with the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Plan shall control.
Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the Plan or in the Notice, as applicable.
2. Award Agreement
The Notice and these Terms, together (the “Award Agreement”), constitute the award agreement with respect to the Award pursuant to Section 5.2 of the
Plan.
3. Deferral of Stock Units
Not applicable.
4. Vesting
Following the end of the Measurement Period as set forth in the Notice, the Administrator shall determine, in accordance with the performance goals and
related criteria and methodology established by the Administrator for the Measurement Period, the extent to which the performance goals have been
achieved and the actual number of Stock Units becoming eligible to vest (subject to the following paragraph) based on performance during the
Measurement Period. Any Stock Units (including any related Stock Units credited as dividend equivalents pursuant to Section 5) that do not become
eligible to vest based on performance during the Measurement Period shall terminate as of the end of the Measurement Period when the Administrator has
determined the extent to which the performance goal has not been achieved for the Measurement Period, and the Participant shall have no further rights
with respect to such terminated Stock Units.
Except as otherwise provided in this Award Agreement, and subject to Section 8 below, the number of Stock Units becoming eligible to vest based on
performance during the Measurement Period shall vest on the Vesting Date. Except as expressly provided in Sections 7 and 8 below, vesting requires
continued employment or service with the Corporation or one of its Subsidiaries through the Vesting Date as a condition to the vesting of any Stock Units
subject to the Award and the rights and benefits under this Award Agreement. Except as expressly provided in Sections 7 and 8 below, employment or
service for only a portion of the vesting period, even if a substantial portion, will not entitle the Participant to any proportionate vesting, or avoid or
mitigate a termination of rights and benefits upon or following a termination of employment or services as provided in Section 8 below or under the Plan.

5. Dividend Equivalent Rights Distributions
As of any date that the Corporation pays an ordinary cash dividend on its Common Stock, the Corporation shall credit the Participant’s Stock Unit Account
with an additional number of Stock Units equal to (i) the per share cash dividend paid by the Corporation on its Common Stock on such date, multiplied by
(ii) the number of Stock Units remaining subject to the Award as of the related dividend payment record date, divided by (iii) the Fair Market Value of a
share of Common Stock on the date of payment of such dividend. For these purposes, any Stock Units that vest and become payable in excess of the target
number of Stock Units shall be considered to have been granted on the Grant Date set forth in the Notice. The Stock Units credited pursuant to the
foregoing provisions of this Section 5 shall be subject to the same vesting, payment and other terms, conditions and restrictions as the original Stock Units
to which they relate.
6. Timing and Manner of Payment of Stock Units
Subject to Section 7 below, any Stock Unit granted (or credited pursuant to Section 5) to the Participant that becomes vested (whether pursuant to Section
4, Section 7 or Section 8 hereof), shall be paid to the Participant within sixty (60) days following the Vesting Date. The Corporation shall make payment of
a Stock Unit that has vested by delivering to the Participant a share of Common Stock (either by delivering one or more certificates for the shares
deliverable or by entering such shares in book entry form, as determined by the Corporation in its sole discretion), subject to adjustment as provided in
Section 7.1 of the Plan. The Corporation’s obligation to deliver shares of Common Stock with respect to vested Stock Units is subject to the condition
precedent that the Participant (or other person entitled under the Plan to receive any shares with respect to the vested Stock Units) delivers to the
Corporation any representations or other documents or assurances required pursuant to Section 8.1 of the Plan in advance of the scheduled payment date.
The Participant shall have no further rights with respect to any Stock Units that are paid pursuant to this Section 6 or Section 7 hereof, or that are
terminated pursuant to Section 7 or Section 8 hereof, and such Stock Units shall be removed from the Participant’s Stock Unit Account upon the date of
such payment or termination. The Corporation may, in its sole discretion, settle any Stock Units credited as dividend equivalents by a cash payment equal
to the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of payment (as opposed to payment in the form of shares of Common Stock).
7. Change in Control Event
In connection with a transaction referenced in Section 7.2 of the Plan in connection with which the Corporation will not survive or will not survive as a
public company in respect of its Common Stock, the Administrator may (without limiting the adjustment authority of Section 7.1 of the Plan and without
limiting the flexibility of the Administrator to provide for the assumption, substitution or exchange of the Award pursuant to Section 7.2 of the Plan)
provide that (i) payment for each Stock Unit that is otherwise outstanding on the date of such event and that becomes vested may be made in the form of
cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of a share of Common Stock as of the date of the closing of such transaction, and/or (ii) that, as to any
Stock Units outstanding with respect to a Measurement Period that has not ended on or prior to the date of such transaction, the performance measures
applicable to such Measurement Period shall be deemed satisfied at the applicable “target” level (attainment of 100% of the applicable performance goal
resulting in a 100% payout or vesting percentage as to that goal) or such greater level as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may deem appropriate in
the circumstances. However, notwithstanding anything otherwise provided in Section 7.2 of the Plan but subject to the following sentence, the time of
payment of the Award may not be changed and shall be as set forth in Section 6 above. The Administrator may (notwithstanding the time of payment
provisions of Sections 6 and 8 hereof) provide for the termination of the Stock Units subject to the Award in connection with the occurrence of a Change in
Control Event in connection with which the Administrator has not made a provision for the substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the
Award; provided that (A) in such event, the portion of the Award that is outstanding and unvested immediately prior to such termination shall vest and
become payable (as to any Stock Units outstanding with respect to a Measurement Period that has not ended on or prior to the date of Change in Control
Event, the performance measures applicable to such Measurement Period shall be deemed satisfied at the applicable “target” level (attainment of 100% of
the applicable performance goal resulting in a 100% payout or vesting percentage as to that goal) or such greater level as the Administrator, in its sole
discretion, may deem appropriate in the circumstances), and (B) such acceleration, termination and payment of the Award satisfies the requirements of
Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix) (which requirements include the Change in Control Event qualifying as a change in the ownership or effective
control of the Corporation, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Corporation, within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section
1.409A-3(i)(5)).

8. Termination of Employment
(a) Termination of Employment Generally. Except as expressly provided below in this Section 8, if the Participant ceases to be employed by or to provide
services to the Corporation or its Subsidiaries for any reason (the last day that the Participant is employed by or provides services as a consultant or director
to the Corporation or a Subsidiary prior to a period in which the Participant is not employed by, and does not have any such service relationship with, any
such entity as determined by the Administrator is referred to as the Participant’s “Separation Date”) before the Vesting Date, the Participant’s Stock Units
shall automatically be forfeited to the Corporation effective immediately following the Separation Date. If the Participant is entitled to any accelerated
vesting pursuant to any provision below in this Section 8, any remaining unvested portion of the Participant’s Stock Units (after giving effect to such
acceleration) shall automatically be forfeited to the Corporation effective as of immediately following the Separation Date.
(b) Death of the Participant. In the event of the Participant’s death prior to the Vesting Date and at a time when the Participant is employed by or providing
services to the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, a portion of the Award shall vest on the Vesting Date and shall be paid to the Participant as provided
in Section 6 above. In such event, the number of Stock Units that shall become vested on the Vesting Date equals (i) the Employment Fraction (determined
as set forth below) multiplied by (ii) the number of Stock Units subject to the Award that would have otherwise (had the Separation Date not occurred prior
to the Vesting Date) become vested on the Vesting Date (determined before taking the acceleration contemplated by this Section 8(b) into account and
before taking the crediting of dividend equivalent Stock Units pursuant to Section 5 above into account). To the extent any Stock Units become vested on
the Vesting Date pursuant to the preceding sentence, the dividend equivalent Stock Units credited pursuant to Section 5 above with respect to such Stock
Units shall also become vested on the Vesting Date. For purposes of this Section 8, the “Employment Fraction” equals a fraction (not greater than one), the
numerator of which is the total number of calendar days in the period beginning with the first day of the Measurement Period through and including the
Participant’s Separation Date, and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days in the Measurement Period.
(c) Severance Benefits. In the event the Participant ceases to be employed by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the Vesting Date as a result
of a termination of employment by the Corporation or one of its Subsidiaries without “Cause” (as defined below), the Award shall vest on the Vesting Date
as to the number of Stock Units subject to the Award that would have otherwise (had the Separation Date not occurred prior to the Vesting Date) become
vested on the Vesting Date (determined before taking the crediting of dividend equivalent Stock Units pursuant to Section 5 above into account) and shall
be paid to the Participant as provided in Section 6 above.
For purposes of this Award Agreement, the term “Cause” is used as defined in the Western Digital Corporation Executive Severance Plan (or any
applicable successor executive severance plan, as each is in effect at the time of such termination of employment) (“Pre-CIC Severance Plan”); provided,
however, that if such termination of the Participant’s employment occurs upon or within the one (1) year period following the occurrence of a Change in
Control Event, the term “Cause” is used as defined in the Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Change of Control Severance Plan (or any
applicable successor change of control severance plan, as each is in effect at the time of such termination of employment) (a “CIC Severance Plan”).
In the event the Participant’s employment terminates in circumstances as to which the Participant is entitled to severance benefits pursuant to a CIC
Severance Plan (and other than a termination in the circumstances described in the first paragraph of this Section 8(c)), the extent to which the Award vests
will be determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of the CIC Severance Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any accelerated vesting of the Award pursuant to this Section 8(c) above is subject to the Participant satisfying the release
requirements of the Pre-CIC Severance Plan (in the case of a termination prior to or more than one year after a Change in Control Event) or of the CIC
Severance Plan (in the case of a termination within one year after a Change in Control Event).
The treatment of the Award in any circumstances as to which the Participant is entitled to severance benefits pursuant to a Pre-CIC Severance Plan or a CIC
Severance Plan (including, without limitation, the extent (if any) to which the Award vests or accelerates in such circumstances (other than as expressly
provided in this Section 8(c))) as well as the timing of payment of the Award), shall be governed by this Award Agreement and not by the Pre-CIC
Severance Plan or CIC Severance Plan, as the case may be. As to the Award, this Award Agreement controls in the event of any inconsistency or conflict
with a Pre-CIC Severance Plan or CIC Severance Plan, and to that extent this Award Agreement amends any applicable Pre-CIC Severance Plan or CIC
Severance Plan as to the Award.

9. Adjustments
The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the Stock Units in such circumstances as it, in its sole discretion, may determine; provided that the time of
payment of the Stock Units as otherwise set forth herein may not be changed. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events relating to the
Corporation’s stock contemplated by Section 7.1 of the Plan, the Administrator will make adjustments if appropriate in the number of Stock Units then
outstanding and the number and kind of securities that may be issued in respect of the Award. No such adjustment shall be made with respect to any
ordinary cash dividend for which dividend equivalents are credited or to be credited pursuant to Section 5 above.
10. Withholding Taxes
Upon or in connection with the crediting, vesting or payment of Stock Units, or any other time when tax withholding may be required with respect to the
Award, the Corporation (or the Subsidiary last employing the Participant) shall have the right at its option to (a) require the Participant to pay or provide for
payment in cash of the amount of any taxes that the Corporation or the Subsidiary may be required to withhold with respect to such crediting, vesting,
payment or other event, or (b) deduct from any amount payable to the Participant (pursuant to the Award or otherwise) the amount of any taxes that the
Corporation or the Subsidiary may be required to withhold with respect to such crediting, vesting, payment or other event. In any case where a tax is
required to be withheld in connection with the delivery of shares of Common Stock under this Award Agreement, the Administrator may, in its sole
discretion, direct the Corporation or the Subsidiary to reduce the number of shares to be delivered by (or otherwise reacquire) the appropriate number of
whole shares, valued at their then fair market value, to satisfy such withholding obligation at the applicable withholding rates. In addition, the
Administrator may, in its sole discretion but only to the extent consistent with Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(vi), reduce the number of Stock Units
remaining subject to the Award, with each such Stock Unit to have a value for such purpose equal to the then fair market value of a share of Common
Stock, to satisfy such withholding obligation at the applicable withholding rates.
11. Nontransferability
Neither the Award, nor any interest therein or amount or shares payable in respect thereof may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed
of, anticipated, alienated, encumbered, either voluntarily or involuntarily. The transfer restrictions in the preceding sentence shall not apply to (a) transfers
to the Corporation (i.e., upon the termination of a Stock Unit), or (b) transfers by will or the laws of descent and distribution.
12. No Right to Employment
Nothing contained in this Award Agreement or the Plan constitutes an employment or service commitment by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries,
affects the Participant’s status, if he or she is an employee, as an employee at will who is subject to termination without cause, confers upon the Participant
any right to remain employed by or in service to the Corporation or any Subsidiary, interferes in any way with the right of the Corporation or any
Subsidiary at any time to terminate such employment or service, or affects the right of the Corporation or any Subsidiary to increase or decrease the
Participant’s other compensation.
13. Rights as a Stockholder
Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Notice and these Terms, the Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder of the Corporation, no dividend rights
(except as expressly provided in Section 5 above with respect to dividend equivalent rights) and no voting rights with respect to Stock Units awarded to the
Participant and any shares of Common Stock underlying or issuable in respect of such Stock Units until such shares of Common Stock are actually issued
to and held of record by the Participant. No adjustments will be made for dividends or other rights of a holder for which the record date is prior to the date
of such issuance of such shares.
14. Notices
Any notice to be given under the terms of this Award Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the Corporation at its principal office to the attention
of the Secretary, and to the Participant at the address last reflected on the Corporation’s payroll records, or at such other address as either party may
hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be delivered in person or shall be enclosed in a properly sealed envelope addressed as
aforesaid, registered or certified, and deposited (postage and registry or certification fee prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained
by the United States Government, or for non-U.S.

employees, the government of the country where the Participant is working and/or residing. Any such notice shall be given only when received, but if the
Participant is no longer employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiary, shall be deemed to have been duly given five business days after the date mailed in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 14.
15. Arbitration
Any controversy arising out of or relating to this Award Agreement (including these Terms) and/or the Plan, their enforcement or interpretation, or because
of an alleged breach, default, or misrepresentation in connection with any of their provisions, or any other controversy arising out of or related to the
Award, including, but not limited to, any state or federal statutory claims (“Covered Claims”), shall be resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Western Digital Technologies, Inc. Dispute Resolution Agreement (the “DRA”). If, however, Participant has opted out of the DRA pursuant to
Section 3.3 of the DRA, any Covered Claims by Corporation or Participant shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to this Section 15. Such arbitration
shall be held in Orange County, California, U.S.A., before a sole arbitrator selected from Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc., Orange,
California, or its successor (“JAMS”), or if JAMS is no longer able to supply the arbitrator, such arbitrator shall be selected from the American Arbitration
Association, and shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act; provided, however, that provisional injunctive relief
may, but need not, be sought by either party in a court of law to maintain the status quo while arbitration proceedings are pending, and any provisional
injunctive relief granted by such court shall remain effective until the matter is finally determined by the arbitrator. Except as otherwise stated herein, this
Section 15 also requires arbitration of any disputes concerning the enforceability, interpretation, and/or implementation of this Section 15 and the
arbitrability of any claims brought hereunder, which shall also be decided by an arbitrator. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, Participant and
Corporation agree to bring any Covered Claims on an individual basis only, and not on a class, collective, joint, or representative basis. If, however, the
preceding sentence be determined invalid or unenforceable with respect to any particular Covered Claim, than that Covered Claim will not proceed in
arbitration but rather will be resolved in a court of competent jurisdiction. If that occurs, however, this Section 15 will still be fully enforceable as to all
other Covered Claims, which must be resolved in arbitration on an individual basis. Any arbitrable claims in arbitration will be resolved first and the parties
agree to seek a stay of any non-arbitrable claims until the full completion of the arbitral process. Any claim that the requirement in this Section 15 that
Covered Claims be arbitrated on an individual basis only is invalid, unenforceable, unconscionable, void or voidable may be determined only by a court of
competent jurisdiction and not by an Arbitrator. Final resolution of any dispute through arbitration may include any and all remedies that may be obtained
in a court. Statutes of limitation for Covered Claims submitted to arbitration under this Section 15 shall be the same as they would be if those claims were
brought in court. At the conclusion of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall issue a written decision that sets forth the essential findings and conclusions upon
which the arbitrator’s award or decision is based. Any award or relief granted by the arbitrator hereunder shall be final and binding on the parties hereto
and may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction. The Corporation shall be responsible for payment of the forum costs of any arbitration
hereunder, including the arbitrator’s fee. Each party shall bear its own attorney’s fees and costs (other than forum costs associated with the arbitration)
incurred by it or him or her in connection with the resolution of the dispute. If, however, any party prevails on a statutory claim, which affords the
prevailing party attorneys’ fees and costs, then the arbitrator may award reasonable fees and costs to the prevailing party. The arbitrator may not award
attorneys’ fees to a party that would not otherwise be entitled to such an award under the applicable statute. The parties acknowledge and agree that they
are hereby waiving any rights to trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties against the other in connection with
any matter whatsoever arising out of or in any way connected with any Covered Claim(s), either by virtue of Participant’s acceptance without opting out of
the DRA or, if Participant did opt out of the DRA, by virtue of the provisions of this Section 15.
16. Governing Law
This Award Agreement, including these Terms, shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware (without regard to
conflict of law principles thereunder) and applicable United States federal law.
17. Severability
Except as otherwise provided by Section 15, if the arbitrator selected in accordance with Section 15 above or a court of competent jurisdiction determines
that any portion of this Award Agreement (including these Terms) or the Plan is in violation of any statute or public policy, then only the portions of this
Award Agreement or the Plan, as applicable, which are found to violate such statute or public policy shall be stricken, and all portions of this Award
Agreement and the Plan which are not found to violate any statute or public policy shall continue in full force and effect. Furthermore, except as otherwise
provided by Section 15, it is the parties’ intent that any order striking any portion of this Award Agreement and/or the Plan should modify the stricken
terms as narrowly as possible to give as much effect as possible to the intentions of the parties hereunder.

18. Entire Agreement
This Award Agreement (including these Terms) and the Plan together constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior understandings and
agreements, written or oral, of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. However, this Award Agreement shall not supersede or in any
way affect the DRA, which shall remain in full force and effect, unless Participant opted out of the DRA pursuant to the provisions therein. The Plan and
this Award Agreement may be amended pursuant to Section 8.6 of the Plan. Such amendment must be in writing and signed by the Corporation. The
Corporation may, however, unilaterally waive any provision hereof in writing to the extent such waiver does not adversely affect the interests of the
Participant hereunder, but no such waiver shall operate as or be construed to be a subsequent waiver of the same provision or a waiver of any other
provision hereof. Provisions of the Plan that confer discretionary authority on the Board or the Administrator do not and shall not be deemed to create any
rights in the Participant unless such rights are expressly set forth herein or are otherwise in the sole discretion of the Board or the Administrator so
conferred by appropriate action of the Board or the Administrator under the Plan after the Grant Date.
19. Section Headings
The section headings of this Award Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to alter or affect any provision hereof.
20. Imposition of Other Requirements
The Corporation reserves the right to impose other requirements on the Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the Stock Units and on any shares of
Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Corporation determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to
require Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.
21. Construction
It is intended that the terms of the Award will not result in the imposition of any tax liability pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. This Award Agreement
shall be construed and interpreted consistent with that intent.
22. Clawback Policy
The Stock Units, as well as any payment (whether in cash, shares of Common Stock or other property) made pursuant to the Award with respect to the
Stock Units, are subject to the terms of the Corporation’s Compensation Recovery Policy (as well as any successor compensation recoupment, clawback or
similar policy adopted by the Corporation), as each may be in effect from time to time, as well as any compensation recoupment, clawback or similar
provisions of applicable law, any of which could in certain circumstances require repayment or forfeiture of the Stock Units or any shares of Common
Stock or other cash or property received with respect to the Stock Units (including any value received from a disposition of the shares acquired upon
payment of the Stock Units).
23. No Advice Regarding Grant
The Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own tax, legal and/or investment advisors with respect to any advice the Participant may
determine is needed or appropriate with respect to the Stock Units (including, without limitation, to determine the foreign, state, local, estate and/or gift tax
consequences with respect to the Award). Neither the Corporation nor any of its officers, directors, affiliates or advisors makes any representation (except
for the terms and conditions expressly set forth in this Award Agreement) or recommendation with respect to the Award. Except for the withholding rights
set forth in Section 10 above, the Participant is solely responsible for any and all tax liability that may arise with respect to the Award.

EXHIBIT A
PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD – TSR MEASURE (CEO SIGN-ON
AWARD)
Performance Measures and Goals
1. DEFINED TERMS:
“Relative TSR” means the percentile ranking of the Corporation’s TSR for the Measurement Period among the TSRs for the S&P 500 Index
Companies for the Measurement Period. If the Corporation’s TSR for the Measurement Period is equal to the TSR(s) of one or more other S&P 500 Index
Companies for the Measurement Period, the Corporation’s TSR will be deemed to be greater than the TSR of such other S&P 500 Index Company (or
Companies) for that period.
“Total Stockholder Return” or “TSR” means, with respect to the Corporation and each of the S&P 500 Index Companies, the change in stock
price plus dividends paid over the Measurement Period, using the average of closing stock prices during the first forty-five (45) calendar days of the
Measurement Period, inclusive of the first trading day of the Measurement Period, and the average of the closing stock prices during the forty-five (45)
calendar days prior to the end of the Measurement Period, inclusive of the last trading day of the Measurement Period, and with dividends deemed
reinvested on the applicable dividend payment date. There shall also be an equitable and proportionate adjustment to the relevant stock price(s) to the
extent (if any) necessary to preserve the intended incentives and mitigate the impact of any stock split, stock dividend or reverse stock split occurring after
the start of the applicable forty-five (45) day period and before the end of the Measurement Period.
“S&P 500 Index Companies” means each company that is a member of the Standard & Poor’s 500 index at the beginning of the Measurement
Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a company shall not be included as an S&P 500 Index Company if it does not separately and publicly report with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission financial information over the course of the entire Measurement Period, except in the event of a company’s
bankruptcy, filing for protection from creditors or adoption of a plan of liquidation, in which case that company’s TSR performance for the Measurement
Period shall be reflected at -100%.
Capitalized terms not defined in this Exhibit have the meaning set forth in the Award Agreement.
2. DETERMINATION OF STOCK UNITS ELIGIBLE TO VEST WITH RESPECT TO THE MEASUREMENT PERIOD:
The portion of the total target number of Stock Units subject to the award (as set forth in the Notice) that become eligible to vest will be
determined based on a Relative TSR measure for the Measurement Period as set forth below:
Corporation’s Relative TSR results for the
Measurement Period

Portion of the Stock Units subject to the
Award that become eligible to vest*

Less than the 25th percentile

0%

th

25 percentile

50%

50th percentile

80%

75 percentile or greater

150%

th

* For Relative TSR performance between points, the corresponding portion (or applicable percentage) of the Stock Units subject to the
Award that become eligible to vest will be determined on a straight-line basis between the corresponding percentages.
***

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David V. Goeckeler, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Western Digital Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ David V. Goeckeler
David V. Goeckeler
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: May 8, 2020

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Robert K. Eulau, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Western Digital Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ Robert K. Eulau
Robert K. Eulau
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Dated: May 8, 2020

Exhibit 32.1
The following certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and in accordance with SEC Release
No. 33-8238. This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Western Digital Corporation specifically incorporates it by reference.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Western Digital Corporation, a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended April 3, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ David V. Goeckeler
David V. Goeckeler
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: May 8, 2020

Exhibit 32.2
The following certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and in accordance with SEC Release
No. 33-8238. This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Western Digital Corporation specifically incorporates it by reference.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Western Digital Corporation, a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended April 3, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Robert K. Eulau
Robert K. Eulau
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Dated: May 8, 2020

